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Forward Looking Statements

This communication contains certain information that may constitute �forward-looking statements� within the meaning
of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. While we have specifically identified certain information
as being forward-looking in the context of its presentation, we caution you that all statements contained in this
communication that are not clearly historical in nature, including statements regarding business strategies, market
potential, future financial performance, the effects of the separation of ADT from Tyco International plc (�Tyco�), and
other matters, are forward-looking. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, any time we use the
words �anticipate,� �estimate,� �expect,� �project,� �intend,� �plan,� �believe,� and similar expressions, we intend to clearly express
that the information deals with possible future events and is forward-looking in nature. However, the absence of these
words or similar expressions does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

Forward-looking information involves risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied in, or reasonably inferred from, such statements. Specific factors that could
cause actual results to differ from results contemplated by forward-looking statements include, among others, the
occurrence of any event, change or other circumstances that could give rise to the termination of the merger
agreement; the inability to complete the proposed merger due to the failure to obtain stockholder approval for the
proposed merger or the failure to satisfy other conditions to completion of the proposed merger, including that a
governmental entity may prohibit, delay or refuse to grant approval for the consummation of the transaction; risks
regarding the failure of Parent, Parent Inc. or Parent LP to obtain the necessary financing to complete the proposed
merger; risks related to disruption of management�s attention from the Company�s ongoing business operations due to
the transaction; the effect of the announcement of the proposed merger on the Company�s relationships with its
customers, operating results and business generally; the risk that the proposed merger will not be consummated in a
timely manner; exceeding the expected costs of the merger; our ability to keep pace with the rapid technological and
industry changes in order to develop or acquire new technologies for our products and services that achieve market
acceptance with acceptable margins; competition in the markets we serve, including the home automation market,
which may result in pressure on our profit margins and limit our ability to maintain the market share of our products
and services; an increase in the rate of customer attrition, including impact to our depreciation and amortization
expenses or impairment of assets related to our security monitoring services; changes in the housing market and
consumer discretionary income; failure to maintain the security of our information and technology networks,
including personally identifiable information and other data, our products may be subject to potential vulnerabilities of
wireless and Internet of Things devices, and our services may be subject to hacking or other unauthorized access to
control or view systems and obtain private information; our dependence on certain software technology that we
license from third parties, and failure or interruption in products or services of third-party providers; interruption to
our monitoring facilities; failure to realize expected benefits from acquisitions and investments; risks associated with
pursuing business opportunities that diverge from our current business model; potential loss of customer generation
strategies through our independent, third party authorized dealers and affinity marketing programs; risks associated
with acquiring and integrating customer accounts; unauthorized use of our brand name by third parties; risks
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associated with ownership of the ADT® brand name outside of the United States and Canada by Tyco and other third
parties; failure to enforce our intellectual property rights; allegations that we have infringed the intellectual property
rights of third parties; failure of our independent, third party authorized dealers to mitigate certain risks; failure to
continue to execute a competitive, profitable pricing structure; shifts in consumers� choice of, or telecommunication
providers� support for, telecommunication services and equipment; current and potential securities litigation; increase
in government regulation of telemarketing, e-mail marketing and other marketing methods may increase our costs and
restrict growth of our business; changes in U.S. and non-U.S. governmental laws and regulations; imposition by local
governments of assessments, fines, penalties and limitations on either us or our customers for false alarms; refusal to
respond to calls from monitored security service companies, including us, by police departments in certain U.S. and
Canadian jurisdictions; our greater exposure to liability for employee acts or omissions or system failures; interference
with our customers� access to some of our products and services through the Internet by broadband service providers or
potential change in government regulations relating to the internet; potential impairment of our deferred tax assets;
inability to hire and retain key personnel, including an effective sales force; adverse developments in our relationship
with our employees; capital market conditions, including availability of funding sources for us and our suppliers;
changes in our credit ratings; risks related to our increased indebtedness, including our ability to meet certain financial
covenants in our debt instruments; impact of any material adverse legal judgments, fines, penalties or settlements;
exposure to counterparty risk in our hedging agreements; fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; potential
liabilities for legacy obligations relating to the separation from Tyco; volatility in the market price of our stock; and
failure to fully realize expected benefits from the separation from Tyco.

Therefore, caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. Much of the
information in this communication that looks towards future performance of the Company is based on various factors
and important assumptions about future events that may or may not actually occur. As a result, our operations and
financial results in the future could differ materially and substantially from those we have discussed in the
forward-looking statements included in this communication. We assume no obligation (and specifically disclaim any
such obligation) to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

For additional discussion of potential risks and uncertainties that could impact our results of operations or financial
position, refer to Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our 2015 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes to the
risk factors disclosed in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our 2015 Form 10-K.

Additional Information and Where to Find It

This communication may be deemed solicitation material in respect of the proposed acquisition of the Company by
Parent. In connection with the proposed merger transaction, the Company will file with the SEC and furnish to the
Company�s stockholders a proxy statement and other relevant documents. This communication does not constitute a
solicitation of any vote or approval. Stockholders are urged to read the proxy statement when it becomes available and
any other documents to be filed with the SEC in connection with the proposed merger or incorporated by reference in
the proxy statement because they will contain important information about the proposed merger.
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Investors will be able to obtain free of charge the proxy statement and other documents filed with the SEC at the SEC�s
website at http://www.sec.gov. In addition, the proxy statement and our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge through our website at
www.adt.com. as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

The directors, executive officers and certain other members of management and employees of the Company may be
deemed �participants� in the solicitation of proxies from stockholders of the Company in favor of the proposed merger.
Information regarding the persons who may, under the rules of the SEC, be considered participants in the solicitation
of the stockholders of the Company in connection with the proposed merger will be set forth in the proxy statement
and the other relevant documents to be filed with the SEC. You can find information about the Company�s executive
officers and directors in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 25, 2015 and in its
definitive proxy statement filed with the SEC on Schedule 14A on January 22, 2016.
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includes "forward-looking statements," as that
term
is
defined by the
federal securities

Edgar Filing: ADT Corp - Form DEFA14A

7



laws.
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and the expected
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Today�s
Press
Release
Highlights
�
Apollo
Global
Management
(�Apollo�) has
entered
into
an
agreement
to
buy
ADT for
$42/share
�
ADT�s
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Board
of Directors
has
unanimously
approved
this transaction
�
This
agreement
is
subject
to
ADT shareholder
and
customary
regulatory
approvals
�
Pending
these
approvals,
we
expect
the deal
to
close
in
June
of 2016
�
Apollo
already
owns
and
has
merged
Protection
1
and
ASG
Security
which
operates
under
the
Protection
1 brand
�
ADT will
merge
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with Protection
1 and
the combined
company
will
operate
under
the ADT
brand
�
Apollo
will
keep the Boca
location
as
the headquarters
of the new combined
company
�
Tim
Whall,
current
President
&
CEO
of Protection
1, has
been
announced
as
the CEO
of the
new
combined
company
ADT Security Services proprietary and business confidential. For internal use only � not for distribution.
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Apollo Overview
Overview
Founded
in
1990,
Apollo
is
a
global
alternative
asset
manager
focusing
on
private
equity,
distressed
debt,
mezzanine
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and
real
estate
investing
with
a
total
of
approximately
$162
billion
under
management
of
which
$41
billion
in
assets
in
private
equity
Apollo
focuses
on
opportunities
where it
can
be
a
catalyst
for
business-transforming
events
and
create
significant
value,
and
is
currently
invested
in
over
200
companies
Apollo
has
developed
substantial
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expertise
and
valuable
relationships
across
nine
core
industries
that
include:

Table of Contents

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the cumulative total return on the Company�s Common Stock from December 31, 2002 through December 31, 2007, with the CRSP Total Return Index for the Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S.) and the Nasdaq Computer Manufacturer Stocks Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2002 in each of the Company�s common stock, the CRSP Total Return Index for the Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S.) and the Nasdaq Computer Manufacturer Stocks Index, and that all dividends were reinvested.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN AMONG

TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED COMMON STOCK,

THE CRSP TOTAL RETURN INDEX FOR THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET (U.S.),

AND THE NASDAQ COMPUTER MANUFACTURER STOCKS INDEX

12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07
TransAct Technologies Incorporated Common Stock $ 100.00 $ 513.71 $ 675.95 $ 250.00 $ 262.66 $ 151.58
CRSP Total Return Index for the Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S.) $ 100.00 $ 149.52 $ 162.72 $ 166.18 $ 182.59 $ 198.01
Nasdaq Computer Manufacturer Stocks Index $ 100.00 $ 139.10 $ 181.88 $ 186.11 $ 190.60 $ 276.83
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data (in thousands, except per share amounts)

The following is summarized from our audited financial statements of the past five years:

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003¹

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Net sales $ 48,766 $ 64,328 $ 51,091 $ 59,847 $ 52,098
Gross profit 15,996 22,365 15,590 22,042 15,543
Operating expenses 19,751 16,277 15,366 13,591 12,855
Operating income (loss) (3,755) 6,088 224 8,451 2,688
Net income (loss) (2,274) 3,916 377 5,458 1,528
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders (2,274) 3,916 377 5,236 1,087
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic (0.24) 0.41 0.04 0.55 0.13
Diluted (0.24) 0.40 0.04 0.51 0.12

December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets $ 30,604 $ 33,706 $ 29,332 $ 34,099 $ 26,361
Working capital 11,234 16,643 15,375 20,511 11,787
Long-term debt, excluding current portion �  �  �  �  330
Redeemable convertible preferred stock �  �  �  �  3,902
Shareholders� equity 21,608 24,290 21,257 23,715 10,347

1 Net income per share amount has been restated to reflect a three-for-two stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend in April 2004.
Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto.

Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements included in this report, including without limitation statements in this Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, which are not historical facts are �forward-looking statements� within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as �may�, �will�, �expect�, �intend�, �estimate�, �anticipate�, �believe�, �project� or �continue� or the negative thereof or other similar words. All forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to those listed in Item 1A of this Annual Report. Actual results may differ materially from those discussed in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report and we assume no duty to update them.

Overview

2007 was a difficult year for TransAct as compared to 2006. During 2007, we were affected by decreased sales levels across the majority of our sales units and increased expenses, primarily due to legal expenses associated with our patent infringement counterclaim.

16
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We continue to focus on sales growth in our three core markets, banking and POS, casino, gaming and lottery, and in our TransAct Services Group, to drive increased profitability. During 2007, our total net sales decreased by 24% to approximately $48,766,000. See the table below for a breakdown of our sales by market.

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2007
Year ended

December 31, 2006
Change

$ %
Banking and POS $ 11,046 22.6% $ 16,858 26.2% $ (5,812) (34.5)%
Casino, gaming and lottery 25,338 52.0% 34,677 53.9% (9,339) (26.9)%
TransAct Services Group 12,382 25.4% 12,793 19.9% (411) (3.2)%

Total net sales $ 48,766 100.0% $ 64,328 100.0% $ (15,562) (24.2)%

We experienced a decrease of approximately 35% in sales of Banking and POS printers in 2007. We experienced decreases in sales of our Bankjet® line of inkjet bank teller printers due to the non-recurrence of sales that were made in 2006 to two large banking customers. In addition to lower banking printer sales, we also experienced a decline in sales from our line of POS thermal printers due primarily to a large hospitality customer that has slowed and deferred equipment purchases while it implements a new point-of-sale software system. We continued to experience lower sales of our legacy line of POS impact printers, as these printers are being replaced by our newer thermal and inkjet printers. Our sales into the Banking and POS market over the last several years continue to be impacted by a market shift in technology from impact printing to thermal and inkjet printing. This change in technology has resulted in declining sales of our impact printers that were at higher average selling prices and increasing sales of our thermal and inkjet printers that are at lower average selling prices. Although our unit sales volume has increased over the last several years, the revenue generated from those sales have not increased to the same extent due to lower average selling prices based on the lower cost of the technology utilized, of thermal and inkjet printers as compared to impact printers. In fact, since 1996, unit sales of all of our printers, including Banking and POS printers, have increased by approximately 60%, while average selling prices of these printers have declined by approximately 40%. We expect sales of our legacy impact printers to continue to decline during 2008, although at a slower rate than in 2007, as these printers continue to be replaced by our newer thermal and inkjet printers.

Our focus in the casino, gaming and lottery market is two-fold. On the lottery side, we continue to hold a leading position based on our long-term purchase agreement with Lottomatica�s GTECH Corporation (�GTECH�), our largest customer and the world�s largest provider of lottery terminals, with approximately a 70% market share. GTECH has been our customer since 1995, and we continue to maintain a good relationship with them. In fact, our contract with GTECH continues through 2012. Currently, we fulfill substantially all of GTECH�s printer requirements for lottery terminal installations and upgrades worldwide. During 2007, we experienced lower than historical sales levels from GTECH, with total printer sales decreasing by approximately $5,622,000, or 51%, compared to 2006. However, our sales to GTECH each year are directly dependent on the timing and number of new and upgraded lottery terminal installations GTECH performs. Our sales to GTECH are not indicative of GTECH�s overall business or revenue.

On the casino and gaming side, our focus lies primarily in supplying printers for use in slot machines at casinos and racetracks, as well as in other gaming devices that print tickets or receipts, primarily in the United States, Europe and Australia, as well as in the emerging Asian market, including Macau. During 2007, our domestic casino printer sales decreased by 14% from 2006, due to continued softness in the domestic casino market. In the international casino and gaming market, sales decreased by 21% to $6.6 million, largely due to the Australian markets slowdown in its conversion to ticket-in, ticket-out slot machines.

Our TransAct Services Group (�TSG�), which sells service, replacement parts and consumable products, including receipt paper, ribbons and inkjet cartridges, continues to offer a substantial growth opportunity and recurring revenue stream for TransAct. Even with declining sales of replacement parts for legacy impact printers as the installed base of these printers in the market declines, TSG domestic revenue continued to increase in 2007 by 5% from 2006. During 2007, our domestic sales benefited from higher inkjet cartridge sales including four
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months of incremental sales resulting from the signing of an agreement with a leading national office supply chain to supply inkjet cartridges in 2006 as well as increased sales from our maintenance services, including extended warranty contracts and our innovative 24-hour guaranteed replacement product service called TransAct XpressSM. Internationally, TSG sales declined due to the decrease in maintenance and repair services revenue from a service contract with a single customer in the United Kingdom.

Operationally, our gross margin and operating margin showed the results of a lower volume of sales and the resulting lower gross profit as well as higher operating expenses during 2007. During 2007, our gross margin declined to 32.8% compared to 34.8% in 2006, and our operating margin also declined to (7.7%) compared to 9.5% in 2006.

Overall, we reported a net loss of $2.3 million and loss per share (diluted) of $0.24 per share for 2007. We also utilized cash during 2007 to fund $2.2 million of capital expenditures, repurchased $1.5 million of our common stock (approximately 2.5% of our common stock outstanding), and we finished the year with $2.6 million of cash and no debt on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2007.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared by us in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These principles require the use of estimates, judgments and assumptions. Such estimates and judgments are based upon historical experience and certain assumptions that are believed to be reasonable in the particular circumstances. Those judgments affect both balance sheet items and income statement categories. Our estimates include those related to revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory obsolescence, the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, goodwill impairment, warranty obligations, restructuring accruals, share-based compensation and contingent liabilities. We evaluate our assumptions on an ongoing basis by comparing actual results with our estimates. Actual results may differ from the original estimates. The following accounting policies are those that we believe to be most critical in the preparation of our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition�Our typical contracts include the sale of printers, which are sometimes accompanied by separately-priced extended warranty contracts. We also sell spare parts, consumables, and other repair services (sometimes pursuant to multi-year product maintenance contracts), which are not included in the original printer sale and are ordered by the customer as needed. We recognize revenue pursuant to the guidance within SAB 104, �Revenue Recognition.� Specifically, revenue is recognized when evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery (based on shipping terms which are generally FOB shipping point) has occurred, the selling price is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We provide for an estimate of product returns and price protection based on historical experience at the time of revenue recognition.

Revenue related to extended warranty and product maintenance contracts is recognized pursuant to FASB Technical Bulletin 90-1 (�FTB 90-1�), �Accounting for Separately Priced Extended Warranty and Product Maintenance Contracts.� Pursuant to FTB 90-1, revenue related to separately priced product maintenance contracts is deferred and recognized over the term of the maintenance period. We record deferred revenue for advance payments received from customers for maintenance contracts.

Our customers have the right to return products that do not function properly within a limited time after delivery. We monitor and track product returns and record a provision for the estimated future returns based on historical experience. Returns have historically been within expectations and the provisions established, but we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience return rates consistent with historical patterns.

We offer some of our customer�s price protection as an incentive to carry inventory of our product. These price protection plans provide that if we lower prices, we will credit them for the price decrease on inventory
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they hold. Our customers typically carry limited amounts of inventory, and we infrequently lower prices on current products. As a result, the amounts paid under these plans have not been material. However, we cannot guarantee that this minimal level will continue.

We charge our customers for shipping and handling services. The amounts billed to customers are recorded as revenue when the product ships. Any costs incurred related to these services are included in cost of sales.

Accounts Receivable�We have standardized credit granting and review policies and procedures for all customer accounts, including: credit reviews of all new customer accounts; ongoing credit evaluations of current customers; credit limits and payment terms based on available credit information; and adjustments to credit limits based upon payment history and the customer�s current creditworthiness. We also provide an estimate of doubtful accounts based on historical experience and specific customer collection issues. Our allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2007 was $62,000, or 1.0% of outstanding accounts receivable, which we feel is appropriate considering the overall quality of our accounts receivable. While credit losses have historically been within expectations and the reserves established, we cannot guarantee that our credit loss experience will continue to be consistent with historical experience. As of December 31, 2007, we had accounts receivable balances due from three customers of approximately 13%, 12% and 10%, respectively, of the total balance due, and no other customer accounts receivable balance exceeded 10%. As of December 31, 2006, we had accounts receivable balances due from three customers of 14%, 14% and 10% of the total balance due, and no other customer accounts receivable balance exceeded 10%.

Inventory�Our inventories are stated at the lower of cost (principally standard cost, which approximates actual cost on a first-in, first-out basis) or market. We review market value based on historical usage and estimates of future demand. Assumptions are reviewed at least quarterly and adjustments are made, as necessary, to reflect changing market conditions. Based on these reviews, inventory write-downs are recorded, as necessary, to reflect estimated obsolescence, excess quantities and market value. Should circumstances change and we determine that additional inventory is subject to obsolescence, additional write-downs of inventory could result in a charge to income. As of December 31, 2007, our net inventory included a reserve of $2,850,000, or 24.7% of gross inventory, to write inventory down to lower of cost or market.

Goodwill�We test the impairment of goodwill each year or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We completed our last assessment as of December 31, 2007. Factors considered that may trigger an impairment review are: significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; significant changes in the manner of use of acquired assets or the strategy for the overall business; significant negative industry or economic trends; and significant decline in market capitalization relative to net book value. Goodwill amounted to $1,469,000 at December 31, 2007 and we have determined that no goodwill impairment has occurred.

Income Taxes�In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This involves estimating the actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences between the tax basis of certain assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements, as well as net operating losses, tax credits and other carryforwards. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheets. We then assess the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be realized from future taxable income, and to the extent that we believe that realization is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance.

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes and, in particular, any valuation allowance or tax reserves with respect to our deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the recoverability of our deferred tax assets based upon historical results and forecasted taxable income over future years, and match this forecast against the basis differences, deductions available in future years and the limitations allowed for net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards to ensure that there is adequate support for the realization of the deferred tax assets. While we have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for a valuation
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allowance or tax reserve, in the event we were to determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the valuation allowance or tax reserves would be charged as a reduction to income in the period such determination was made. Likewise, should we determine that we would be able to realize future deferred tax assets in excess of its net recorded amount, an adjustment to the valuation allowance or tax reserves would increase net income in the period such determination was made.

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the �FASB�) issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, (�FIN 48�). Among other things, FIN 48 prescribes a minimum recognition threshold that an income tax position must meet before it is recorded in the reporting entity�s financial statements. FIN 48 requires that the effects of such income tax positions be recognized only if, as of the balance sheet reporting date, it is �more likely than not� (i.e., more than a 50% likelihood) that the income tax position will be sustained based solely on its technical merits. When making this assessment, management must assume that the responsible taxing authority will examine the income tax position and have full knowledge of all relevant facts and other pertinent information. The new accounting guidance also clarifies the method of accruing for interest and penalties when there is a difference between the amount claimed, or expected to be claimed, on a company�s income tax returns and the benefits recognized in the financial statements. Additionally, FIN 48 requires significant new and expanded footnote disclosures in all annual periods.

We adopted FIN 48 with an effective date of January 1, 2007. Retrospective application of FIN 48 was prohibited. As a result of the implementation, we recognized a decrease to reserves for uncertain tax positions. This decrease was accounted for as a $318,000 adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

As of December 31, 2007, we recorded a net deferred tax asset of approximately $4,548,000 and a tax reserve of $125,000, primarily on portions of certain tax credits. We will need to recognize approximately $13.0 million in future taxable income in order to realize all of our deferred tax assets at December 31, 2007. In two of the last three years, we have had U.S. taxable losses and there is no assurance that we will generate future taxable income sufficient to realize all of our deferred tax assets. However, based on our current projection of future taxable income as of December 31, 2007, no valuation allowance is considered necessary. Should circumstances change and we determine that some or all of the deferred taxes would not be realized, a valuation allowance would be recorded, resulting in a charge to income in the period such determination is made.

Restructuring�In February 2001, we announced plans to establish a global engineering and manufacturing center at our Ithaca, NY facility. As part of this strategic decision, we undertook a plan to consolidate all manufacturing and engineering into our existing Ithaca, NY facility and close our Wallingford, CT manufacturing facility (the �Consolidation�). As of December 31, 2001, we successfully transferred substantially all our Wallingford operations to Ithaca, NY, with the exception of our corporate headquarters and a service center that remains in Connecticut. The closing of the Wallingford manufacturing facility resulted in the termination of employment of approximately 70 production, administrative and management employees.

In connection with the Consolidation of manufacturing facilities in 2001, we recorded significant accruals. Through December 31, 2007, we have recognized approximately $5.5 million of expenses associated with the Consolidation, including severance pay, stay bonuses, employee benefits, moving expenses, non-cancelable lease payments, and other costs. Management has made reasonable estimates of such costs and expenses. During November 2006, we executed an agreement, effective May 1, 2007, to terminate the lease agreement for our Wallingford, CT facility. As a result, we changed our estimate of the restructuring accrual and reversed approximately $479,000 of restructuring expenses in 2006. During the second quarter of 2007, we recorded an additional $12,000 of expense to finalize the termination of the lease agreement. As of September 30, 2007, all non-cancelable lease payments related to our Wallingford, CT facility have been made and we do not expect to incur any additional restructuring expenses related to the Consolidation.
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Warranty�We generally warrant our products for up to 24 months and record the estimated cost of such product warranties at the time the sale is recorded. Estimated warranty costs are based upon actual past experience of product repairs and the related estimated cost of labor and material to make the necessary repairs. If actual future product repair rates or the actual costs of material and labor differ from the estimates, adjustments to the accrued warranty liability and related warranty expense would be made.

Contingencies�We record an estimated liability related to contingencies based on our estimates of the probable outcomes pursuant to FAS 5. On a quarterly basis, we assess the potential liability related to pending litigation, audits and other contingencies and confirm or revise estimates and reserves as appropriate. If the actual liabilities are settled in an amount greater than those recorded on the balance sheet, a change to income would be recorded.

Share-Based Compensation�We calculate share-based compensation expense in accordance with SFAS 123(R), �Share-Based Payment (as amended)� using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to calculate the fair value of share-based awards. The key assumptions for this valuation method include the expected term of an option grant, and the stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate, dividend yield, and forfeiture rate. The determination of these assumptions is based on past history and future expectations, and is subject to a high level of judgment. To the extent any of the assumptions were to change from year to year, the fair value of new option grants may vary significantly.

Results of Operations: Year ended December 31, 2007 compared to year ended December 31, 2006

Net Sales. Net sales, which include printer sales and sales of spare parts, consumables and repair services, by market for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2007
Year ended

December 31, 2006

Change

$ %
Banking and point of sale $ 11,046 22.6% $ 16,858 26.2% $ (5,812) (34.5)%
Casino, gaming and lottery 25,338 52.0% 34,677 53.9% (9,339) (26.9)%
TransAct Services Group 12,382 25.4% 12,793 19.9% (411) (3.2)%

$ 48,766 100.0% $ 64,328 100.0% $ (15,562) (24.2)%

International* $ 10,795 22.1% $ 14,138 22.0% $ (3,343) (23.6)%

* International sales do not include sales of printers made to domestic distributors or other domestic customers who may in turn ship those printers to international destinations.
Net sales for 2007 decreased $15,562,000, or 24%, from 2006 due to sales decreases in each of our three markets: banking and point of sale (�POS�) (a decrease of approximately $5,812,000, or 35%), casino, gaming and lottery (a decrease of approximately $9,339,000, or 27%), and TSG (a decrease of approximately $411,000, or 3%). Overall, international sales decreased by $3,343,000, or 24%, due largely to lower international shipments of our banking and POS and casino, gaming and lottery printers, and to a lesser extent, decreased TSG sales internationally.

Banking and point of sale: Revenue from the banking and POS market includes sales of printers used by banks, credit unions and other financial institutions to print and/or validate receipts at bank teller stations. Revenue from this market also includes sales of inkjet, thermal and impact printers used primarily by retailers in the restaurant (including fine dining, casual dining and fast food), hospitality, and specialty retail industries to print receipts for consumers, validate checks, or print on other inserted media. Sales of our banking and POS printers worldwide decreased approximately $5,812,000, or 35%, from 2006.
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(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2007
Year ended

December 31, 2006

Change

$ %
Domestic $ 9,775 88.5% $ 15,410 91.4% $ (5,635) (36.6)%
International 1,271 11.5% 1,448 8.6% (177) (12.2)%

$ 11,046 100.0% $ 16,858 100.0% $ (5,812) (34.5)%

Domestic banking and POS printer sales decreased to $9,775,000, representing a $5,635,000, or 37%, decrease from 2006, due largely to the non-recurrence of significant sales (approximately $2.6 million) of our Bankjet® line of inkjet bank teller printers to two large banking customers that were made in 2006. Although we are currently pursuing additional banking opportunities, due to the project-oriented nature of these sales, we cannot predict if and when future sales may occur. In addition to lower banking printer sales, we also experienced a decline in sales from our line of POS thermal printers due primarily to a large hospitality customer that has slowed and deferred equipment purchases while it implements a new point-of-sale software system. We also experienced a decline in sales of our legacy line of POS impact printers as these printers are being replaced by our newer thermal and inkjet printers. We expect sales of our legacy impact printers to continue to decline during 2008, although at a slower rate than in 2007, as these printers continue to be replaced by our newer thermal and inkjet printers. Our sales into the banking and POS market over the last several years have been impacted by a shift in technology in the market from impact printing technology to thermal and inkjet printing technology. This change in technology has resulted in declining sales of our impact printers that were at higher average selling prices and increasing sales of our thermal and inkjet printers that are at lower average selling prices.

International banking and POS printer shipments decreased by approximately $177,000, or 12%, to $1,271,000, due primarily to lower sales to our international POS distributors in Latin America and Europe.

Casino, gaming and lottery: Revenue from the casino, gaming and lottery market includes sales of printers used in slot machines, video lottery terminals (�VLTs�) and other gaming machines that print tickets or receipts instead of issuing coins (�ticket-in, ticket-out� or �TITO�) at casinos, racetracks (�racinos�) and other gaming venues worldwide. Revenue from this market also includes sales of lottery printers to Lottomatica�s GTECH Corporation (�GTECH�), the world�s largest provider of lottery terminals, for various lottery applications. Sales of our casino, gaming and lottery printers decreased by $9,339,000, or 27%, from 2006, primarily due to lower sales of lottery printers to GTECH, both domestically and internationally, and lower casino and other gaming printer sales, both domestically and internationally.

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2007
Year ended

December 31, 2006

Change

$ %
Domestic $ 18,095 71.4% $ 25,198 72.7% $ (7,103) (28.2)%
International 7,243 28.6% 9,479 27.3% (2,236) (23.6)%

$ 25,338 100.0% $ 34,677 100.0% $ (9,339) (26.9)%

Domestic sales of our casino, gaming and lottery printers decreased by $7,103,000, or 28%, due primarily to a decrease in domestic sales of lottery printers to GTECH and, to a lesser extent, a decrease in sales of our thermal casino printers due to continued softness in the domestic casino market during 2007 as compared to 2006.

Domestic and international printer sales to GTECH, which include thermal on-line and other lottery printers, decreased by approximately $5,622,000, or 51%, in 2007 compared to 2006, with domestic sales declining approximately $5,053,000 and international sales declining approximately $569,000. Our sales to GTECH are directly dependent on the timing and number of new and upgraded lottery terminal installations GTECH performs, and as a result, may fluctuate significantly quarter-to-quarter. Our sales to GTECH are not indicative of GTECH�s overall business or revenue. We currently have approximately $8.6 million of lottery printers on order for shipment in 2008.
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International casino, gaming and lottery printer sales decreased $2,236,000, or 24%, to $7,243,000 in 2007 compared to 2006. Such sales represented 29% and 27% of total sales into our casino, gaming and lottery market during 2007 and 2006, respectively. This decrease was primarily due to lower international gaming printer sales, primarily in Australia due to a slower than anticipated conversion to ticket-in, ticket-out slot machines in that region, partially offset by higher sales in Europe and Asia as well as lower international lottery printer sales to GTECH.

TransAct Services Group: Revenue from the TransAct Services Group (�TSG�) includes sales of consumable products (inkjet cartridges, ribbons and receipt paper), replacement parts, maintenance and repair services, refurbished printers, and shipping and handling charges. Sales from TSG decreased by approximately $411,000, or 3%.

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2007
Year ended

December 31, 2006

Change

$ %
Domestic $ 10,101 81.6% $ 9,582 74.9% $ 519 5.4%
International 2,281 18.4% 3,211 25.1% (930) (29.0)%

$ 12,382 100.0% $ 12,793 100.0% $ (411) (3.2)%

Domestic TSG revenue increased by approximately $519,000, or 5%, to $10,101,000, largely due to increased sales of consumable products, including higher sales of inkjet cartridges as we continue to benefit from the agreement we signed in August 2006 to supply inkjet cartridges to a leading national office supply chain. The increase in domestic revenue was also due, to a lesser extent, to maintenance and repair services performed as we continue to win new service contracts and expand existing contracts for our service products including extended warranty contracts and our 24-hour guaranteed replacement product service called TransAct Xpress�. These increases were largely offset by a decline in the sale of refurbished printers and replacement parts for certain legacy printers, as the installed base of these legacy printers in the market continues to decline.

Internationally, TSG sales decreased by approximately $930,000, or 29%, to $2,281,000, due largely to a decrease in maintenance and repair services revenue from a service contract with a single customer in the United Kingdom, as well as a decline in sales of consumable products and replacement parts. The primary operations of our United Kingdom subsidiary, a European sales and service center, relate to revenue generated from a service contract with a single customer in the United Kingdom. The service contract, which represented a substantial portion of our U.K. subsidiary�s revenue, was renewed in April 2007 through November 2007 at a lower minimum sales value compared to the minimum sales value of the prior year�s contract. The contract ended in November 2007 and was not renewed, as the customer has begun to replace our printers with newer technology that we were unable to provide. As a result, we expect international TSG revenue to be lower in 2008 compared to 2007.

Gross Profit. Gross profit information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2007

Percent of
Total Sales - 20062007 2006

Year ended $ 15,996 $ 22,365 28.4% 32.8% 34.8%
Gross profit is measured as revenue less cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold includes primarily the cost of all raw materials and component parts, direct labor, and the associated manufacturing overhead expenses. Gross profit and gross margin decreased due primarily to a lower volume of sales and a less favorable sales mix in 2007 compared to 2006, somewhat offset by lower component part and labor costs resulting from our initiatives to increasingly move production to Asia. In addition, gross profit for 2007 was negatively impacted by an incremental inventory reserve charge of approximately $528,000, or 1.1% of net sales, specifically related to certain obsolete electronic components and certain discontinued printer products.
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Engineering and Product Development. Engineering and product development information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2007

Percent of
Total Sales - 20062007 2006

Year ended $ 3,129 $ 2,824 10.8% 6.4% 4.4%
Engineering, design and product development expenses primarily include salary and payroll related expenses for our engineering staff, depreciation and design expenses (including prototype printer expenses, outside design and testing services and supplies). Such expenses increased as we incurred increased outside design, prototype and development expenses associated largely with new product development for the banking market, as well as increased professional consulting related expenses. These increases were somewhat offset by lower expenses related to engineering staffing and other employee compensation expenses. Engineering and product development expenses increased as a percentage of net sales due primarily to lower sales volume in proportion to a higher level of expenses in the 2007 compared to 2006.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2007

Percent of
Total Sales - 20062007 2006

Year ended $ 6,708 $ 6,892 (2.7)% 13.8% 10.7%
Selling and marketing expenses primarily include salaries and payroll related expenses for our sales and marketing staff, sales commissions, travel expenses, expenses associated with the lease of sales offices, advertising, trade show expenses and other promotional marketing expenses. Selling and marketing expenses decreased as we incurred lower employee sales commission expenses based on lower sales volume, lower demonstration printer expenses, and the non-recurrence of expenses incurred in 2006 related to the redesign of our website. These decreases were partly offset by increased trade show, advertising and other promotional marketing expenses compared with 2006. Selling and marketing expenses increased as a percentage of net sales due primarily to lower sales volume in proportion to a lower level of expenses in 2007 compared to 2006.

General and Administrative. General and administrative information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2007

Percent of
Total Sales - 20062007 2006

Year ended $ 6,995 $ 6,925 1.0% 14.3% 10.8%
General and administrative expenses primarily include: salaries and payroll related expenses for our executive, accounting, human resource and information technology staff, expenses for our corporate headquarters, professional and legal expenses, telecommunication expenses, and other expenses related to being a publicly-traded company. General and administrative expenses increased due primarily to (1) higher legal expense related to the expansion of our international patent portfolio, (2) higher depreciation and amortization expense associated with the completion of the implementation of new Oracle software at the beginning of 2007 and the purchase of office furniture and leasehold improvements for our new corporate headquarters in Hamden, CT, and (3) increased rent and facility-related expenses associated with our new corporate headquarters. These increases were somewhat offset by a decrease in incentive compensation expenses and acquisition-related expenses, as we incurred approximately $220,000 of legal and consulting services related to a potential acquisition in the second quarter of 2006 that was not consummated. These expenses did not recur during 2007. General and administrative expenses for 2007 also included a charge of approximately $187,000 for severance
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resulting from the termination of certain employees as part of cost reduction actions. We expect to realize cost savings of approximately $600,000, mostly as a reduction in selling and marketing expenses, in 2008 as a result of these actions. General and administrative expenses increased as a percentage of net sales due primarily to lower sales volume in proportion to a higher level of expenses in 2007 compared to 2006.

Legal Fees associated with lawsuit. During 2007, we incurred approximately $2,907,000 of legal fees related to our lawsuit with FutureLogic, Inc. compared to approximately $115,000 in 2006. The substantial increase was due primarily to our patent infringement counterclaim against FutureLogic, Inc. We expect to incur $1,000,000 to $1,500,000 of legal fees per quarter related to the FutureLogic lawsuit through the expedited trial date of August 2008. See �Item 3�Legal Proceedings� in Part I of this annual report for more information.

Business Consolidation and Restructuring. During the fourth quarter of 2006, we executed an agreement, effective May 1, 2007, to terminate the lease agreement for our existing corporate headquarters and eastern region service center facility located in Wallingford, CT (the �Release Agreement�). Prior to the execution of the Release Agreement, we accrued for the remaining non-cancelable lease payments and other related costs for this facility through the expiration date of the lease (March 31, 2008). As a result of the Release Agreement and the early termination of the old lease, we were released from the legal obligation for lease payments after May 1, 2007 and, accordingly, we reversed $479,000 of previously accrued expenses related to the Consolidation in the fourth quarter of 2006. During the second quarter of 2007, we recorded an additional $12,000 in expense to finalize the termination of the lease agreement for our prior corporate headquarters and eastern region service center facility located in Wallingford, CT. We do not expect to incur any additional restructuring expenses related to the Consolidation.

Operating Income (Loss). Operating income (loss) information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2007

Percent of
Total Sales - 20062007 2006

Year ended $ (3,755) $ 6,088 (161.7)% (7.7)% 9.5%
During 2007, the substantial decrease in our operating income and operating margin was due largely to lower sales and the resulting lower gross profit and higher operating expenses (largely legal expenses of approximately $2.9 million related to the FutureLogic lawsuit) in 2007 compared to that of 2006.

Interest. We recorded net interest income of $76,000 in 2007 compared to net interest income of $104,000 in 2006. The decrease in our net interest income was largely due to a lower average cash balance being lower in 2007 as compared to 2006. See �Liquidity and Capital Resources� below for more information.

Other Income (Expense). We recorded other income of $21,000 in 2007 due primarily to gains recorded from the sale of certain assets from our prior corporate headquarters and Eastern Regional Service Center in Wallingford, CT, partially offset by transaction exchange losses recorded by our UK subsidiary resulting from the weakening of the U.S. dollar against the British pound. We recorded other expense of $159,000 in 2006 due primarily to transaction exchange losses recorded by our UK subsidiary resulting from the weakening of the U.S. dollar against the British pound during that period.

Income Taxes. We recorded an income tax benefit of $1,384,000, at an effective rate of 37.8% during 2007 compared to an income tax provision of $2,117,000, at an effective rate of 35.1% in 2006. The effective tax rate for 2007 increased compared to 2006, due largely to an increase in the recognition of certain deferred tax credits. We expect our annual effective tax rate for 2008 to be approximately 36%.

Net Income (Loss). We reported a net loss in 2007 of $2,274,000, or ($0.24) per diluted share compared to net income of $3,916,000, or $0.40 per diluted share in 2006.
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Results of Operations: Year ended December 31, 2006 compared to year ended December 31, 2005

Net Sales. Net sales, which include printer sales and sales of spare parts, consumables and repair services, by market for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2006
Year ended

December 31, 2005

Change

$ %
Banking and point of sale $ 16,858 26.2% $ 16,410 32.1% $ 448 2.7%
Casino, gaming and lottery 34,677 53.9% 23,634 46.3% 11,043 46.7%
TransAct Services Group 12,793 19.9% 11,047 21.6% 1,746 15.8%

$ 64,328 100.0% $ 51,091 100.0% $ 13,237 25.9%

International $ 14,138 22.0% $ 12,318 24.1% $ 1,820 14.8%

* International sales do not include sales of printers made to domestic distributors or other domestic customers who in turn ship those printers to international destinations.
Net sales for 2006 increased $13,237,000, or 26%, from 2005 due to significantly higher printer shipments into our casino, gaming and lottery market, as well as increased sales from our TransAct Services Group and a slight increase in printer shipments into our POS and banking market. Overall, international sales increased by $1,820,000, or 15%, due largely to higher international shipments of our casino and gaming printers, primarily to Australia, somewhat offset by lower POS printer shipments through our international distributors.

Banking and point of sale: Sales of our banking and POS printers worldwide increased approximately $448,000, or 3%, from 2005.

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2006
Year ended

December 31, 2005

Change

$ %
Domestic $ 15,410 91.4% $ 14,188 86.5% $ 1,222 8.6%
International 1,448 8.6% 2,222 13.5% (774) (34.8)%

$ 16,858 100.0% $ 16,410 100.0% $ 448 2.7%

Domestic banking and POS printer sales increased to $15,410,000, representing a $1,222,000, or 9%, increase from 2005, due primarily to higher sales of (1) our line of thermal printers including our new thermal printer launched in 2005 exclusively for POS distributors and (2) our Bankjet® line of inkjet printers to existing banking customers. Although we are currently pursuing additional banking opportunities, due to the project-oriented nature of these sales, we cannot predict if and when future sales may occur. These increases were offset by lower sales of our legacy line of POS impact printers, as expected, as these printers are being replaced by our newer thermal and inkjet printers. Our sales into the POS and banking market over the last several years have been impacted by a shift in technology in the market from impact printing technology to thermal and inkjet printing technology. This change in technology has resulted in declining sales of our impact printers that were at higher average selling prices and increasing sales of our thermal and inkjet printers that are at lower average selling prices. And, although our unit sales volume has increased over the last several years, the revenue generated from those sales have not increased to the same extent due to lower average selling prices of thermal and inkjet printers as compared to impact printers.

International POS and banking printer sales decreased by approximately $774,000, or 35%, due primarily to lower sales of our legacy impact printers to our international POS distributors in Europe and Latin America, somewhat offset by higher sales of our iTHERM® 280 thermal printer to our distributors in Latin America.
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Casino, gaming and lottery: Sales of our casino, gaming and lottery printers increased by $11,043,000, or 47%, from 2005, primarily due to an increase in sales of our casino and other gaming printers, both domestically and internationally, as well as higher sales of lottery printers to GTECH.

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2006
Year ended

December 31, 2005

Change

$ %
Domestic $ 25,198 72.7% $ 16,271 68.8% $ 8,927 54.9%
International 9,479 27.3% 7,363 31.2% 2,116 28.7%

$ 34,677 100.0% $ 23,634 100.0% $ 11,043 46.7%

Domestic sales of our casino, gaming and lottery printers increased by $8,927,000, or 55%, from 2005 due largely to a significant increase in both sales of lottery printers to GTECH and thermal casino printers. Lottery printer sales to GTECH (excluding any international sales), which include thermal on-line lottery and other lottery printers, increased by approximately $4,512,000, or 77%, in 2006 compared to 2005. Our sales to GTECH are directly dependent on the timing and number of new and upgraded lottery terminal installations GTECH performs, and as a result, may fluctuate significantly between quarters and years. Our sales to GTECH are not indicative of GTECH�s overall business or revenue.

Domestic casino and gaming printer sales increased by approximately $4,415,000 driven primarily by increased market share as we benefited from our sales relationship with JCM American Corporation.

International casino, gaming and lottery printer sales increased by approximately $2,116,000, or 29%, to $9,479,000 in 2006 compared to 2005. Such sales represented 27% and 31% of total sales into our casino, gaming and lottery market during 2006 and 2005, respectively. This increase was led primarily by continued growth in international casino and gaming printer sales, primarily in Australia and Asia, as these international markets continued to expand ticket and receipt printing in slot machines and other gaming machines. In addition, we experienced higher casino and gaming printer sales in Canada, and slightly lower international lottery printer sales to GTECH.

TransAct Services Group: Sales by TSG increased by approximately $1,746,000, or 16%.

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2006
Year ended

December 31, 2005

Change

$ %
Domestic $ 9,582 74.9% $ 8,314 75.3% $ 1,268 15.3%
International 3,211 25.1% 2,733 24.7% 478 17.5%

$ 12,793 100.0% $ 11,047 100.0% $ 1,746 15.8%

Domestic TSG revenue increased by approximately $1,268,000 or 15%, to $9,582,000 due to revenue generated from service contracts, as well as increased sales of refurbished printers and consumable products. These increases were somewhat offset by a decline in the sale of replacement parts for certain legacy impact printers, as the installed base of these legacy printers in the market declined. International TSG sales increased by approximately $478,000, or 18%, to $3,211,000, due largely to an increase in maintenance and repair services revenue from a service contract from a single customer in the United Kingdom, as well as increased sales of consumable products.

Gross Profit. Gross profit information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2006

Percent of
Total Sales - 20052006 2005

Year ended $ 22,365 $ 15,590 43.5% 34.8% 30.5%

27

Edgar Filing: ADT Corp - Form DEFA14A

Table of Contents 31



Table of Contents

Gross profit and gross margin increased due primarily to a higher volume of sales and a more favorable sales mix in 2006 compared to 2005, as well as lower product costs resulting from increased sourcing of components for our printers in Asia. In addition, gross profit for 2005 was negatively impacted by a charge of $600,000, or 1.2% of net sales, related to the write-down of inventory and accrual for estimated settlement/cancellation payments for non-cancelable purchase orders for certain excess inventory components related primarily to our Model 850 casino ticket printer. The charge was largely the result of the faster than expected acceptance of our new Epic 950® casino ticket printer, which replaced our Model 850 casino ticket printer.

Engineering and Product Development. Engineering and product development information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2006

Percent of
Total Sales - 20052006 2005

Year ended $ 2,824 $ 2,726 3.6% 4.4% 5.3%
Engineering, design and product development expenses increased as we incurred higher expenses related to increased engineering staffing and other employee compensation expenses and product development expenses related to our new line of off-premise gaming receipt printers, which were largely offset by a decrease in costs associated with International Game Technology�s (�IGT�) integration and attainment of jurisdictional approvals for our Epic 950® thermal casino printer on all of IGT�s slot platforms worldwide (the �IGT Integration�). We incurred approximately $150,000 of IGT Integration costs in 2005 that did not recur in 2006. Engineering and product development expenses decreased as a percentage of net sales primarily due to higher sales volume in 2006 compared to 2005.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2006

Percent of
Total Sales - 20052006 2005

Year ended $ 6,892 $ 6,319 9.1% 10.7% 12.4%
Selling and marketing expenses increased as we incurred the full year effect in 2006 of expenses related to the addition of new corporate marketing staff, and new sales staff for our three strategic sales units, including those for our service centers in Las Vegas, NV and Wallingford, CT, made throughout 2005. We also incurred increased expenses related to demonstration printers and the redesign of our website that we re-launched in August 2006. These increases were somewhat offset by decreased travel, trade show, advertising, consulting and other promotional marketing expenses compared with 2005. Selling and marketing expenses decreased as a percentage of net sales due primarily to higher sales volume in proportion to a higher level of expenses in 2006 compared to 2005.

General and Administrative. General and administrative information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2006

Percent of
Total Sales - 20052006 2005

Year ended $ 6,925 $ 6,321 9.6% 10.8% 12.4%
General and administrative expenses increased due primarily to (1) the full year effect in 2006 of compensation related expenses associated with the relocation of our accounting department from Ithaca, NY to Wallingford, CT during 2005, (2) expenses associated with the Company�s Oracle implementation including data conversion expenses, temporary help, travel and compensation related expenses, (3) approximately $220,000 of legal and consulting services related to a potential acquisition that was not consummated, (4) higher incentive
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compensation expenses based on the Company�s improved performance in 2006 and (5) increased telecommunications expenses associated with the implementation of our new company-wide phone system. These increases were partially offset by lower travel expenses and a decrease in recruiting costs incurred during 2005 related to the relocation of our accounting department and the increased staffing of the TSG sales unit that did not recur in 2006. General and administrative expenses decreased as a percentage of net sales due primarily to increased sales in proportion to higher expenses in 2006 as compared to 2005.

Business Consolidation and Restructuring. During the fourth quarter of 2006, we executed an agreement, effective May 1, 2007, to terminate the lease agreement for our existing corporate headquarters and eastern region service center facility located in Wallingford, CT (the �Release Agreement�). Prior to the execution of the Release Agreement, we accrued for the remaining non-cancelable lease payments and other related costs for this facility through the expiration date of the lease (March 31, 2008). As a result of the Release Agreement and the early termination of the old lease, we were released from the legal obligation for lease payments after May 1, 2007 and, accordingly, we reversed $479,000 of previously accrued expenses related to the Consolidation in the fourth quarter of 2006.

Operating Income. Operating income (loss) information is summarized below (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, Percent
Change

Percent of
Total Sales - 2006

Percent of
Total Sales - 20052006 2005

Year ended $ 6,088 $ 224 2,617.9% 9.5% 0.4%
During 2006, the substantial increase in our operating income and operating margin was due largely to the operating leverage we experienced in 2006 resulting from higher sales and gross profit, somewhat offset by higher operating expenses, compared to that of 2005.

Interest. We recorded net interest income of $104,000 in 2006 compared to net interest income of $73,000 in 2005. Even though our average cash balance was lower in 2006 compared to 2005 due largely to the repurchase of common stock under our stock repurchase program, our net interest income still increased as we substantially improved our overall rate of return on our invested cash balance.

Other Expense. We recorded other expense of $159,000 in 2006 due primarily to transaction exchange losses recorded by our UK subsidiary in 2006 due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar against the British pound. We recorded other income of $32,000 in 2005 due primarily to transaction exchange gains due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the British pound in 2005.

Income Taxes. We recorded an income tax provision of $2,117,000, at an effective rate of 35.1% during 2006 compared to an income tax benefit of $48,000, at an effective rate of 14.6% in 2005. During 2005, we recorded an income tax benefit, as compared to an income tax provision in 2006, as we recognized certain discrete tax benefits and tax credits and reversed certain valuation allowances during 2005, combined with an unusually low level of income before taxes.

Net Income. We reported net income in 2006 of $3,916,000, or $0.40 per diluted share compared to net income of $377,000, or $0.04 per diluted share in 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During 2007, our cash flows reflected the investment in the build-out of our new, leased corporate headquarters in Hamden, CT, the continued repurchase of our common stock, and the results of lower sales volume compared to 2006. However, even with the repurchase of approximately $1,503,000 of our common stock and capital expenditures of approximately $2,166,000 during 2007, our cash balance only decreased by $875,000 from December 31, 2006. We ended 2007 with approximately $2.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and no debt outstanding.
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Operating activities: The following significant factors primarily affected our cash provided by operations of $2,604,000 in 2007 as compared to $3,300,000 in 2006.

During 2007:

� We reported a net loss of $2,274,000.

� We recorded depreciation, amortization and non-cash compensation expense of $2,559,000.

� Deferred taxes increased by $1,839,000 due to our net operating loss during 2007.

� Accounts receivable decreased by $5,294,000 due to lower sales during 2007 and improved collection efforts.

� Inventory increased by $2,053,000 due to an increase in consignment inventory programs with certain of our customers, higher stocking levels resulting from our initiatives to move increased production to Asia, and expected increased sales demand in the first quarter of 2008.

� Accounts payable increased by $691,000 due to higher inventory purchases and the timing of payments during the year.

� Accrued liabilities decreased by $575,000 due to the following: (1) lower compensation related accruals and (2) a lower income tax accrual based on the decreased level of income before taxes. These decreases were somewhat offset by increases in accrued legal fees, primarily related to our lawsuit with FutureLogic, Inc. and deferred rent related to the lease of our new corporate headquarters in Hamden, CT.

� As of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, our restructuring accrual amounted to $0 and $315,000, respectively. The decrease of $315,000 is related largely to final payments made on our Wallingford lease obligation.
During 2006:

� We reported net income of $3,916,000.

� We recorded depreciation, amortization and non-cash compensation expense of $2,149,000.

� Accounts receivable increased by $3,063,000 due primarily to a higher volume of sales in the fourth quarter of 2006 compared to the fourth quarter of 2005.

� Inventories increased by $1,797,000 and accounts payable increased by $1,138,000 due to higher inventory purchases and inventory levels related to higher sales volume in the fourth quarter of 2006 compared to the fourth quarter of 2005.

� Accrued liabilities and other liabilities increased by $1,423,000 due to increases in: (1) compensation related accruals, (2) income tax accrual based on the increased level of income before taxes, (3) deferred revenue balances related to increased sales of extended service contracts, (4) accruals for legal fees and (5) consulting services accruals related to our Oracle software implementation. These increases were partly offset by a decrease in warranty accruals.

� Accrued restructuring expenses decreased by $878,000 due to $399,000 of payments made on our Wallingford, CT lease obligation and the reversal of $479,000 of expense related to the execution of an agreement effective May 1, 2007 to terminate the lease agreement for our existing corporate headquarters located in Wallingford, CT.
Investing activities: Our capital expenditures were approximately $2,166,000 and $2,891,000 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Expenditures in 2007 included approximately $1,248,000 for the purchase of leasehold improvements and office furniture for our new corporate headquarters in Hamden, CT, approximately $135,000 for the purchase of leasehold improvements and office furniture for our new Eastern Region service center in
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New Britain, CT, approximately $338,000 for the purchase of new computer hardware and software including outside consulting costs related to our Oracle software implementation, and the remaining amount primarily for the purchase of new product tooling.

Financing activities: We used approximately $1,360,000 for financing activities during 2007, largely due to the repurchase of Company stock of approximately $1,503,000. The repurchases were offset by proceeds from stock option exercises of approximately $149,000 during 2007. During 2006, we used approximately $1,684,000 from financing activities, largely due to the repurchase of Company stock of approximately $2,625,000, partly offset by proceeds and tax benefits from stock option exercises of approximately $1,029,000. We also used approximately $88,000 of cash related to deferred financing costs for the new revolving credit facility we entered into with TD Banknorth during November 2006.

Working Capital

Our working capital decreased to $11,234,000 at December 31, 2007 from $16,643,000 at December 31, 2006. Our current ratio also decreased to 2.4 to 1 at December 31, 2007, compared to 3.0 to 1 at December 31, 2006. The decrease in our working capital and current ratio was largely due to lower accounts receivable balances resulting from decreased sales and improved collection efforts and higher accounts payable resulting from higher inventory purchases and the timing of payments, somewhat offset by higher inventory levels and lower accrued liabilities.

Deferred Taxes

As of December 31, 2007, we had a net deferred tax asset of approximately $4,548,000. In order to utilize this deferred tax asset, we will need to generate approximately $13.0 million of taxable income in future years. In two of the last three years, we have had U.S. taxable losses and there is no assurance that we will generate future taxable income sufficient to realize all of our deferred tax assets. However, based on our current projection of future taxable income as of December 31, 2007, we believe that it is more likely than not that the existing net deferred tax asset will be realized. However, if our future projections of taxable income are less than expected, we may need to establish a valuation allowance for all or a portion of our net deferred tax asset, which may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Credit Facility and Borrowings

On November 28, 2006, we signed a, five-year $20 million credit facility (the �TD Banknorth Credit Facility�) with TD Banknorth, N.A. (�TD Banknorth�). The credit facility provides for a $20 million revolving credit line expiring on November 28, 2011. The TD Banknorth Credit facility replaces a previous $11.5 million credit facility also with TD Banknorth. Our TD Banknorth Credit Facility provides substantially improved terms compared to our prior credit facility. Borrowings under the revolving credit line bear a floating rate of interest at the prime rate minus one percent and are secured by a lien on all of our assets. We also pay a fee of 0.25% on unused borrowings under the revolving credit line. The total deferred financing costs relating to expenses incurred to complete the TD Banknorth Credit Facility was $94,000. The TD Banknorth Credit Facility imposes certain quarterly financial covenants on us and restricts the payment of dividends on our common stock and the creation of other liens. On November 7, 2007, we amended the TD Banknorth Credit Facility to revise a financial covenant effective September 30, 2007.

As of December 31, 2007, we had no balances outstanding on the revolving credit line. Undrawn commitments under the TD Banknorth Credit facility were approximately $20,000,000 at December 31, 2007.

Stock Repurchase Program

On March 25, 2005, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program (�the Stock Repurchase Program�). Under the Stock Repurchase Program, we were authorized to repurchase up to $10 million of our
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outstanding shares of common stock from time to time in the open market over a three year period ending on March 25, 2008, depending on market conditions, share price and other factors.

On November 1, 2007, our Board of Directors approved an increase in our stock repurchase authorization under the Stock Repurchase Program to $15 million from $10 million. In addition, the Board approved a two-year extension of the Stock Repurchase Program to March 31, 2010. During 2007, we repurchased a total of 232,700 shares of common stock for approximately $1,503,000 at an average price of $6.46 per share. As of December 31, 2007, we have repurchased a total of 1,034,000 shares of common stock for approximately $7,995,000, at an average price of $7.73 per share, since the inception of the Stock Repurchase Program.

Shareholders� Equity

Shareholders� equity decreased by $2,682,000 to $21,608,000 at December 31, 2007 from $24,290,000 at December 31, 2006. The decrease was primarily due to a net loss of $2,274,000, treasury stock purchases of 232,700 shares of common stock for approximately $1,503,000, and a decrease in additional paid-in capital of approximately $97,000 resulting from a tax charge resulting from employee stock transactions. These decreases were offset by proceeds of approximately $149,000 from the issuance of approximately 33,000 shares of common stock from stock option exercises, compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock of $715,000, and a cumulative adjustment to retained earnings due to the implementation of FIN 48 in the amount of $318,000.

Consolidation Expenses

During 2001 through 2007, we recognized approximately $5.5 million of business consolidation, restructuring and related expenses as a result of the Consolidation. These expenses primarily included employee severance and termination related expenses, facility closure and consolidation expenses (including moving expenses, estimated non-cancelable lease payments and other costs) and accelerated depreciation and asset disposal losses on certain leasehold improvements and other fixed assets.

In November 2006, we executed an agreement effective May 1, 2007 to terminate the lease agreement for our Wallingford, CT facility (the �Release Agreement�). Prior to the execution of the Release Agreement, we accrued the remaining non-cancelable lease payments and other related costs for the unused portion of this facility through the expiration date of the lease (March 31, 2008). As a result of the Release Agreement and the early termination of the lease, we were released from the legal obligation to make lease payments after May 1, 2007 and, accordingly, we reversed approximately $479,000 of previously accrued restructuring reserve in the fourth quarter of 2006. During the second quarter of 2007, we recorded an additional $12,000 of expense to finalize the termination of the lease agreement. As of September 30, 2007, all remaining non-cancelable lease payments related to our Wallingford, CT facility were made. We paid approximately $327,000, $399,000 and $447,000 of expenses related to the Consolidation in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Contractual Obligations

TransAct�s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007 were as follows:

(In thousands) Total < 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years > 5 years
Operating lease obligations $ 4,922 $ 948 $ 1,715 $ 1,262 $ 997
Purchase obligations 19,997 19,893 104 �  �  

Total $ 24,919 $ 20,841 $ 1,819 $ 1,262 $ 997

Purchase obligations are for purchases made in the normal course of business to meet operational requirements, primarily of component part inventory.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Fair Value Measurements: In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements� (�FAS 157�) which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and for interim periods within those years. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. Management has not yet determined the impact, if any, of adopting the provisions of FAS 157 on the Company�s financial position and results of operations.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities: In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, �The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities� (�FAS 159�), which allows entities to voluntarily choose, at specified election dates, to measure many financial assets and financial liabilities (as well as certain non-financial instruments) at fair value (the �fair value option�). The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable. If the fair value option is elected for an instrument, the Statement specifies that all subsequent changes in fair value for that instrument shall be reported in earnings. This Statement is effective for TransAct for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008. We have not yet determined the effect this Statement will have on our operations or financial position.

Business Combinations: In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised 2007), �Business Combinations� (�FAS 141(R)�), which replaces FAS No. 141, �Business Combinations.� FAS 141(R) retains the underlying concepts of SFAS 141 in that all business combinations are still required to be accounted for at fair value under the acquisition method of accounting but FAS 141(R) changed the method of applying the acquisition method in a number of significant aspects including the following: (i) acquisition costs will generally be expensed as incurred; (ii) non-controlling interests will be valued at fair value at the acquisition date; (iii) in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset at the acquisition date; (iv) restructuring costs associated with a business combination will generally be expensed subsequent to the acquisition date; and (v) changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense. FAS 141(R) is effective on a prospective basis for all business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period subsequent to December 15, 2008, with the exception of the accounting for valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contingencies. FAS 141(R) amends FAS 109 such that adjustments made to valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contingencies associated with acquisitions that closed prior to the effective date of FAS 141(R) would also apply the provisions of FAS 141(R). Early adoption of FAS 141(R) is not permitted.

Resource Sufficiency

We believe that our cash on hand, cash flows generated from operations and borrowings available under the TD Banknorth Credit Facility will provide sufficient resources to meet our working capital needs to finance our capital expenditures, to fund our Stock Repurchase Program, and meet our liquidity requirements through at least the next twelve months.

Impact of Inflation

We believe that our business has not been affected to a significant degree by inflationary trends because of the low rate of inflation during the past three years, nor do we believe that we will be significantly affected by inflation during 2008.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the investment of our available cash and cash equivalents. In accordance with our investment policy, we strive to achieve above market rates of return in exchange for accepting a prudent amount of incremental risk, which includes the risk of interest rate movements. Risk tolerance is constrained by an overriding objective to preserve capital. An effective increase or decrease of 10% in interest rates would not have a material effect on our results of operations or cash flows.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

A substantial portion of our sales are denominated in U.S. dollars and, as a result, we have relatively little exposure to foreign currency exchange risk with respect to sales made. This exposure may change over time as business practices evolve and could have a material adverse impact on our financial results in the future. We do not use forward exchange contracts to hedge exposures denominated in foreign currencies or any other derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The effect of an immediate 10% change in exchange rates would not have a material impact on our future results of operations or cash flows.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statements and schedule of the Company are annexed to this report as pages F-2 through F-25. An index to such materials appears on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Attached as exhibits to this Form 10-K are certifications of our Chief Executive Officer (�CEO�) and Chief Financial Officer (�CFO�), which are required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). This �Controls and Procedures� section includes information concerning the controls and controls evaluation referred to in the certifications. Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K sets forth the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, regarding its audit of TransAct�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. This section should be read in conjunction with the CEO and CFO certifications and the PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP report for a more complete understanding of the topics presented.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our �disclosure controls and procedures� (�Disclosure Controls�) as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K. The controls evaluation was conducted under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our CEO and CFO. Disclosure Controls are controls and procedures designed to reasonably assure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission�s (�SEC�) rules and forms. Disclosure Controls are also designed to reasonably assure that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our quarterly evaluation of Disclosure Controls includes an evaluation of some components of our internal control over financial reporting, and internal control over financial reporting is also separately evaluated on an annual basis for purposes of providing the management report which is set forth below.
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The evaluation of our Disclosure Controls included a review of the controls� objectives and design, the company�s implementation of the controls and the effect of the controls on the information generated for use in this Form 10-K. In the course of the controls evaluation, we review data errors, control problems or acts of fraud, if any, and seek to confirm that appropriate corrective actions, including process improvements, are being undertaken. This type of evaluation is performed on a quarterly basis so that the conclusions of management, including the CEO and CFO, concerning the effectiveness of the Disclosure Controls can be reported in our periodic reports on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the components of our Disclosure Controls are also evaluated on an ongoing basis by personnel in our finance organization. The overall goals of these various evaluation activities are to monitor our Disclosure Controls, and to modify them as necessary. Our intent is to maintain the Disclosure Controls as dynamic systems that change as conditions warrant.

Based upon the evaluation of the controls, our CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K, our Disclosure Controls were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC, and that material information relating to TransAct and our consolidated subsidiaries is made known to management, including the CEO and CFO, particularly during the period when our periodic reports are being prepared.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The implementation of our new Oracle enterprise resource planning and accounting system, completed effective January 8, 2007, required us to modify, add and remove certain internal controls and processes and procedures. Otherwise, no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2007 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management�s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. Management based its assessment on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (�COSO�).

Based on our assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria identified above, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

The effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system�s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected.

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of controls effectiveness to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement sections entitled �Election of Directors� and �Executive Officers.�

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement sections entitled �Executive Compensation and Certain Transactions� and �Compensation Discussion and Analysis.�

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement section entitled �Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.�

Information regarding our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Plan category

(a)
Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(b)
Weighted average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(c)
Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding

securities reflected in
column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:
1996 Stock Plan 424,070 $ 3.21 �  
1996 Non-Employee Director Plan 165,000 11.13 �  
2005 Equity Incentive Plan 241,250 7.92 349,750

Total 830,320 $ 6.15 349,750

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders:
2001 Employee Stock Plan 41,059 $ 5.06 �  

871,379 $ 6.10 349,750

The TransAct Technologies Incorporated 2001 Employee Stock Plan (the �2001 Employee Plan�) was adopted by our Board of Directors, without approval of our security holders, effective February 26, 2001. Under the 2001 Employee Plan, we may issue non-qualified stock options, shares of restricted stock, restricted units to acquire shares of common stock, stock appreciation rights and limited stock appreciation rights to key employees of TransAct or any of our subsidiaries and to non-employees who provide services to TransAct or any of our subsidiaries. The 2001 Employee Plan is administered by our Compensation Committee, which has the authority to determine the vesting period and other similar restrictions and terms of awards, provided that the exercise price of options granted under the plan may not be less than the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of grant.

In May 2005, our shareholders approved the adoption of the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan. No new awards will be available for future issuance under any existing TransAct equity plan other than the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

The information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement section entitled �Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.�

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement section entitled �Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm�s Services and Fees.�
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The financial statements and schedule filed as part of this report are listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Schedule. The exhibits filed as a part of this report are listed in the accompanying Index to Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

By: /s/    BART C. SHULDMAN        
Name: Bart C. Shuldman
Title: Chairman of the Board, President and

Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 14, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/    BART C. SHULDMAN        

Bart C. Shuldman

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) March 14, 2008

/s/    STEVEN A. DEMARTINO        

Steven A. DeMartino

Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 14, 2008

/s/    CHARLES A. DILL        

Charles A. Dill

Director March 14, 2008

/s/    THOMAS R. SCHWARZ        

Thomas R. Schwarz

Director March 14, 2008

/s/    GRAHAM Y. TANAKA        

Graham Y. Tanaka

Director March 14, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of TransAct Technologies Incorporated:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of TransAct Technologies Incorporated and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company�s management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management�s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for uncertain tax positions in 2007 and the manner in which it accounts for share-based compensation in 2006.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/    PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Hartford, Connecticut

March 14, 2008
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,561 $ 3,436
Receivables, net 6,128 11,422
Inventories, net 8,665 7,567
Refundable income taxes 51 42
Deferred tax assets 1,529 2,167
Other current assets 362 506

Total current assets 19,296 25,140

Fixed assets, net 6,338 5,938
Goodwill 1,469 1,469
Deferred tax assets 3,019 542
Intangible and other assets, net of accumulated amortization of $221 and $136, respectively 482 617

11,308 8,566

Total assets $ 30,604 $ 33,706

Liabilities and Shareholders� Equity:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,688 $ 3,997
Accrued liabilities 2,852 3,796
Accrued restructuring expenses �  315
Deferred revenue 522 389

Total current liabilities 8,062 8,497

Deferred revenue, net of current portion 211 508
Accrued warranty, net of current portion 91 160
Deferred rent 507 251
Other liabilities 125 �  

934 919

Total liabilities 8,996 9,416

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)

Shareholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 4,800,000 authorized, none issued and outstanding �  �  
Preferred stock, Series A, $0.01 par value, 200,000 authorized, none issued and outstanding �  �  
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 20,000,000 authorized at December 31, 2007 and 2006; 10,399,866 and 10,376,417 shares issued; 9,365,866 and 9,575,117 shares
outstanding, at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively 104 104
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Additional paid-in capital 19,872 19,105
Retained earnings 9,449 11,405
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax 178 168
Treasury stock, 1,034,000 and 801,300 shares, at cost (7,995) (6,492)

Total shareholders� equity 21,608 24,290

Total liabilities and shareholders� equity $ 30,604 $ 33,706

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Net sales $ 48,766 $ 64,328 $ 51,091
Cost of sales 32,770 41,963 35,501

Gross profit 15,996 22,365 15,590

Operating expenses:
Engineering, design and product development 3,129 2,824 2,726
Selling and marketing 6,708 6,892 6,319
General and administrative 6,995 6,925 6,321
Legal fees associated with lawsuit (See Note 11) 2,907 115 �  
Business consolidation and restructuring 12 (479) �  

19,751 16,277 15,366

Operating income (loss) (3,755) 6,088 224

Interest and other income (expense):
Interest expense (69) (44) (41)
Interest income 145 148 114
Other, net 21 (159) 32

97 (55) 105

Income (loss) before income taxes (3,658) 6,033 329
Income tax provision (benefit) (1,384) 2,117 (48)

Net income (loss) $ (2,274) $ 3,916 $ 377

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic $ (0.24) $ 0.41 $ 0.04
Diluted $ (0.24) $ 0.40 $ 0.04

Shares used in per-share calculation:
Basic 9,364 9,577 9,849
Diluted 9,364 9,870 10,163

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands, except share data)

Common Stock
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Unamortized
Restricted
Stock

Compensation
Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss) Total

Total

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)Shares Amount

Balance, December 31, 2004 10,038,106 $ 100 $ 17,401 $ 7,112 $ (1,067) $ �  $ 169 $ 23,715
Cancellation of restricted stock (250) �  (3) �  3 �  �  �  
Issuance of shares from exercise of stock options 71,064 1 323 �  �  �  �  324
Issuance of shares from employee stock purchase plan 2,690 �  23 �  �  �  �  23
Acceleration of outstanding stock options �  �  26 �  �  �  �  26
Issuance of restricted stock 125,400 1 1,230 �  (1,231) �  �  �  
Share-based compensation expense �  �  �  �  458 �  �  458
Tax benefit related to employee stock sales and vesting of restricted stock �  �  337 �  �  �  �  337
Purchase of treasury stock (505,000) �  �  �  �  (3,867) �  (3,867)
Expenses related to preferred stock conversion �  �  (3) �  �  �  �  (3)
Comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adj. �  �  �  �  �  �  (133) (133) (133)
Net income �  �  �  377 �  �  �  377 377

Balance, December 31, 2005 9,732,010 102 19,334 7,489 (1,837) (3,867) 36 21,257 $ 244

Impact of adoption of new accounting pronouncements �  �  (1,837) �  1,837 �  �  �  
Cancellation of restricted stock (11,750) �  �  �  �  �  �  �  
Issuance of shares from exercise of stock options 136,157 2 685 �  �  �  �  687
Issuance of restricted stock 15,000 �  �  �  �  �  �  �  
Tax benefit related to employee stock sales and vesting of restricted stock �  �  342 �  �  �  �  342
Purchase of treasury stock (296,300) �  �  �  �  (2,625) �  (2,625)
Share-based compensation expense �  �  581 �  �  �  �  581
Comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adj., net of tax �  �  �  �  �  �  132 132 132
Net income �  �  �  3,916 �  �  �  3,916 3,916

Balance, December 31, 2006 9,575,117 104 19,105 11,405 �  (6,492) 168 24,290 $ 4,048

Adoption of FASB Interpretation No. 48 �  �  �  318 �  �  �  318

Opening balance at January 1, 2007, as adjusted 9,575,117 104 19,105 11,723 �  (6,492) 168 24,608
Cancellation of restricted stock (9,750) �  �  �  �  �  �  �  
Issuance of shares from exercise of stock options 33,199 �  149 �  �  �  �  149
Tax charge related to vesting of restricted stock �  �  (97) �  �  �  �  (97)
Purchase of treasury stock (232,700) �  �  �  �  (1,503) �  (1,503)
Share-based compensation expense �  �  715 �  �  �  �  715
Comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adj., net of tax �  �  �  �  �  �  10 10 10
Net loss �  �  �  (2,274) �  �  �  (2,274) (2,274)

Balance, December 31, 2007 9,365,866 $ 104 $ 19,872 $ 9,449 $ �  $ (7,995) $ 178 $ 21,608 $ (2,264)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (2,274) $ 3,916 $ 377
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Share-based compensation expense 715 581 484
Incremental tax benefits from stock options exercised �  (342) �  
Depreciation and amortization 1,844 1,568 1,493
Deferred income taxes (1,839) 583 (648)
Provision for excess and obsolete inventory 955 266 995
(Gain) loss on sale of fixed assets (14) �  4
Reversal of accrued restructuring expense �  (479) �  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables 5,294 (3,063) 551
Inventories (2,053) (1,797) 1,043
Refundable income taxes (9) 253 215
Other current assets 144 (276) 328
Other assets 40 (72) 3
Accounts payable 691 1,138 (945)
Accrued liabilities and other liabilities (575) 1,423 (580)
Accrued restructuring expenses (315) (399) (447)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,604 3,300 2,873

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of fixed assets (2,166) (2,891) (2,756)
Proceeds from sale of assets 37 �  �  
Purchase of intangible assets �  �  (510)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,129) (2,891) (3,266)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of deferred financing costs (6) (88) �  
Proceeds from stock option exercises 149 687 347
Purchases of common stock for treasury (1,503) (2,625) (3,867)
Incremental tax benefits from stock options exercised �  342 �  
Payment of preferred stock conversion and registration expense �  �  (3)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,360) (1,684) (3,523)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 10 132 (133)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (875) (1,143) (4,049)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 3,436 4,579 8,628

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 2,561 $ 3,436 $ 4,579
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Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 51 $ 43 $ 41
Income taxes paid 742 1,201 431

Non-cash financing activities:
Tax benefit related to employee stock sales and restricted stock �  342 337
Issuance of restricted stock �  207 1,231

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of business

TransAct Technologies Incorporated (�TransAct� or the �Company�), which has its headquarters in Hamden, CT and its primary operating facility in Ithaca, NY, operates in one industry segment, market-specific printers for transaction-based industries. These industries include casino, gaming, lottery, banking, kiosk and point-of-sale. Our printers are designed based on market specific requirements and are sold under the Ithaca® and Epic product brands. We distribute our products through OEMs, value-added resellers, selected distributors, and directly to end-users. Our product distribution spans across the Americas, Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia, Australia, the Caribbean Islands and the South Pacific. We also generate revenue from the after-market side of the business, providing printer service, supplies and spare parts.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Principles of consolidation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared on a consolidated basis to include the accounts of TransAct and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts, transactions and unrealized profit were eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassifications: Certain amounts in the prior years� financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year�s presentation.

Use of estimates: The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared using estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Segment reporting: We apply the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, �Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information� (�FAS 131�). We view our operations and manage our business as one segment: the design, development, manufacture and sale of transaction-based printers. Factors used to identify TransAct�s single operating segment include the organizational structure of the Company and the financial information available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker in making decisions about how to allocate resources and assess performance. We operate predominantly in one geographical area, the United States of America. See Note 17 for information regarding our international operations. We provide the following disclosures of revenues from products and services:

(In thousands)
Year ended

December 31, 2007
Year ended

December 31, 2006
Year ended

December 31, 2005
Banking and POS printers $ 11,046 22.6% $ 16,858 26.2% $ 16,410 32.1%
Casino, gaming and lottery printers 25,338 52.0% 34,677 53.9% 23,634 46.3%
Services, spare parts and consumables 12,382 25.4% 12,793 19.9% 11,047 21.6%

Total net sales $ 48,766 100.0% $ 64,328 100.0% $ 51,091 100.0%

Cash and cash equivalents: We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity date of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts: We have standardized credit granting and review policies and procedures for all customer accounts, including:

� Credit reviews of all new customer accounts,

� Ongoing credit evaluations of current customers,

� Credit limits and payment terms based on available credit information,

� Adjustments to credit limits based upon payment history and the customer�s current creditworthiness.
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts to ensure trade receivables are valued appropriately. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts based on a variety of factors, including the length of time receivables are past due, significant one-time events and historical experience. We record a specific allowance for individual accounts when we become aware of a customer�s inability to meet its financial obligations, such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioration in the customer�s operating results or financial position. If circumstances related to customers change, we would further adjust estimates of the recoverability of receivables. Allowances for doubtful accounts on accounts receivable balances were $62,000 and $204,000, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (principally standard cost, which approximates actual cost on a first-in, first-out basis) or market. We review market value based on historical usage and estimates of future demand. Based on these reviews, inventory write-downs are recorded, as necessary, to reflect estimated obsolescence, excess quantities and market value. Our net inventory included a reserve of $2,850,000 and $1,900,000, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Fixed assets: Fixed assets are stated at cost. Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of tooling is five years; machinery and equipment is ten years; furniture and office equipment is five to ten years; and computer software and equipment is three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease or the useful life of the asset. Costs related to repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. The costs of sold or retired assets are removed from the related asset and accumulated depreciation accounts and any gain or loss is recognized. Depreciation expense was $1,743,000, $1,466,000 and $1,419,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Leases: Rent expense under non-cancelable operating leases with scheduled rent increases or free rent periods is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term, beginning on the date of control of physical use of the asset or of initial possession. The amount of the excess of straight-line rent expense over scheduled payments is recorded as a deferred liability. Construction allowances and other such lease incentives are recorded as deferred credits, and are amortized on a straight-line basis as a reduction of rent expense beginning in the period they are deemed to be earned, which generally coincides with the occupancy date.

Goodwill: We account for goodwill in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, �Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets� (�FAS 142�) on January 1, 2002. We test goodwill annually for impairment, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We have performed an impairment test as of December 31, 2007 and determined that no impairment has occurred.

Revenue recognition: Our typical contracts include the sale of printers, which are sometimes accompanied by separately-priced extended warranty contracts. We also sell spare parts, consumables, and other repair services (sometimes pursuant to multi-year product maintenance contracts) which are not included in the original printer sale and are ordered by the customer as needed. We recognize revenue pursuant to the guidance within SAB 104, �Revenue Recognition.� Specifically, revenue is recognized when evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery (based on shipping terms, which are generally FOB shipping point) has occurred, the selling price is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We provide for an estimate of product returns and price protection based on historical experience at the time of revenue recognition.

Revenue related to extended warranty and product maintenance contracts is recognized pursuant to FASB Technical Bulletin 90-1 (�FTB 90-1�), �Accounting for Separately Priced Extended Warranty and Product Maintenance Contracts.� Pursuant to FTB 90-1, revenue related to separately priced product maintenance
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

contracts is deferred and recognized over the term of the maintenance period. We record deferred revenue for advance payments received from customers for maintenance contracts.

Our customers have the right to return products that do not function properly within a limited time after delivery. We monitor and track product returns and record a provision for the estimated future returns based on historical experience. Returns have historically been within expectations and the provisions established.

We offer some of our customer�s price protection as an incentive to carry inventory of our product. These price protection plans provide that if we lower prices, we will credit them for the price decrease on inventory they hold. Our customers typically carry limited amounts of inventory, and we infrequently lower prices on current products. As a result, the amounts paid under these plans have not been material.

Concentration of credit risk: Financial instruments that potentially expose TransAct to concentrations of credit risk are limited to cash and cash equivalents held by our banks in excess of insured limits and accounts receivable.

Accounts receivable from customers representing 10% or more of total accounts receivable were as follows:

December 31,
    2007        2006    

Customer A 12% 14%
Customer B 13% 10%
Customer C * 14%
Customer D 10% *

*- customer balances were less than 10% of total accounts receivable
Sales to customers representing 10% or more of total net sales were as follows:

Year ended December 31,
  2007    2006    2005  

Customer A 14% 20% 17%
Customer B * * 14%
Customer C 10% * *

*- customer balances were less than 10% of total net sales
The primary operations of our United Kingdom subsidiary, a European sales and service center, relate to revenue generated from a service contract with a single customer in the United Kingdom. The service contract, which represented a substantial portion of our U.K. subsidiary�s revenue, was renewed in April 2007 through November 2007 at a lower minimum sales value compared to the minimum sales value of the prior year�s contract. The service contract ended in November 2007 and was not renewed, as the customer has begun to replace our printers with a different technology that we were unable to provide.

Warranty: We generally warrant our products for up to 24 months and record the estimated cost of such product warranties at the time the sale is recorded. Estimated warranty costs are based upon actual past experience of product repairs and the related estimated cost of labor and material to make the necessary repairs.
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

The following table summarizes the activity recorded in the accrued product warranty liability:

Year ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Balance, beginning of year $ 603 $ 644 $ 597
Additions related to warranties issued 356 595 613
Warranty costs incurred (459) (636) (566)

Balance, end of year $ 500 $ 603 $ 644

Approximately $91,000 and $160,000 of the accrued product warranty liability were classified as long-term at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Research and development expenses: Research and development expenses include engineering, design and product development expenses incurred in connection with specialized engineering and design to introduce new products and to customize existing products, and are expensed as a component of operating expenses as incurred. We recorded approximately $3,129,000, $2,824,000 and $2,726,000 of research and development expense in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Advertising: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses, which are included in selling and marketing expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, for 2007, 2006 and 2005 totaled $136,000, $182,000 and $371,000, respectively.

Restructuring: In 2001, we undertook a plan to consolidate all manufacturing and engineering into our existing Ithaca, NY facility and close our Wallingford, CT manufacturing facility. We applied the consensus set forth in EITF 94-3, �Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)� in recognizing restructuring expenses. For all future exit costs, we will apply the guidance set forth in Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 146, �Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities� (�FAS 146�). See Note 8 for additional disclosures related to our restructuring and exit costs.

Income taxes: The income tax amounts reflected in the accompanying financial statements are accounted for under the liability method in accordance with FAS 109 �Accounting for Income Taxes� (�FAS 109�). Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. We assess the likelihood that net deferred tax assets will be realized from future taxable income, and to the extent that we believe that realization is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance.

On January 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (�FIN 48�). In accordance with FIN 48, we identified, evaluated and measured the amount of benefits to be recognized for our tax return positions. Upon adoption of FIN 48, we recognized a $318,000 decrease to reserves for uncertain tax positions that was accounted for as a cumulative adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Foreign currency translation: The financial position and results of operations of our foreign subsidiary in the United Kingdom are measured using local currency as the functional currency. Assets and liabilities of such subsidiary have been translated into U.S. dollars at the year-end exchange rate, related revenues and expenses
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

have been translated at the weighted average exchange rate for the year, and shareholders� equity has been translated at historical exchange rates. The resulting translation gains or losses, net of tax, are recorded in stockholders� equity as a cumulative translation adjustment, which is a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses, including those related to intercompany balances, are recognized in other income (expense).

Fair value of financial instruments: The carrying amount for cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. The carrying amount of receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities is a reasonable estimate of fair value because of the short-term nature of these accounts.

Comprehensive income: Statement of Accounting Standard No. 130, �Reporting Comprehensive Income� (�FAS 130�), requires that items defined as comprehensive income or loss be separately classified in the financial statements and that the accumulated balance of other comprehensive income or loss be reported separately from accumulated deficit and additional paid-in-capital in the equity section of the balance sheet. We include the foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax, related to our subsidiary in the United Kingdom within our calculation of comprehensive income.

Share-based Payments: In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) revised Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), �Share-Based Payment� (�FAS 123R�), which establishes accounting for share-based awards exchanged for employee services and requires companies to expense the estimated fair value of these awards over the requisite employee service period. We adopted the accounting provisions of FAS 123R beginning in the first quarter of 2006. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based compensation to employees in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, (�APB 25�) �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,� and related interpretations. We also followed the disclosure requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation� (�FAS 123�), as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 148, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation�Transition and Disclosure� (�FAS 148�).

Under FAS 123R, share-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award, and is recognized as expense over the employee�s requisite service period. We have no awards with market or performance conditions. We adopted the provisions of FAS 123R on January 1, 2006, using a modified prospective application (�MPA�), which provides for certain changes to the method for valuing share-based compensation. Under the MPA, prior periods are not revised for comparative purposes. The valuation provisions of FAS 123R apply to new awards and to modifications or cancellations of awards that are outstanding on the effective date.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3, �Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.� We have elected to adopt the alternative transition method provided in this FASB Staff Position for calculating the tax effects of share-based compensation pursuant to FAS 123R. The alternative transition method includes a simplified method to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital pool related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation, which is available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adoption of FAS 123R.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to calculate the fair value of share based awards. The key assumptions for this valuation method include the expected term of the option, stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate, dividend yield, market price of our underlying stock and exercise price. Many of these assumptions are judgmental and highly sensitive in the determination of compensation expense. In addition, we estimate forfeitures when recognizing compensation expense, and we will adjust our estimate of forfeitures over the requisite service period based on the extent to which actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from such
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TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

estimates. Changes in estimated forfeitures will be recognized through a cumulative true-up adjustment in the period of change and will also impact the amount of compensation expense to be recognized in future periods.

On November 2, 2005, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the acceleration of the vesting of all outstanding unvested stock options granted to directors, officers and employees of the Company under our applicable stock incentive plans. As a result of the acceleration, options to acquire approximately 109,500 shares of our common stock, which otherwise would have vested from time to time over the next four years, became immediately exercisable. All other terms and conditions applicable to the outstanding stock option grants remain in effect. The option plans under which accelerated vesting of stock option grants were issued are our 1996 Stock Plan, 1996 Directors� Stock Plan and the 2001 Employee Stock Plan.

The Compensation Committee�s decision to accelerate the vesting of affected stock options was primarily based upon our required adoption of FAS 123R effective January 1, 2006. Due to the acceleration of vesting of unvested options prior to the adoption of FAS123R, we are only recording compensation expense related to stock options granted in 2006 and beyond. We recorded approximately $26,000 of compensation expense in the fourth quarter of 2005 related to the acceleration of vesting.

Net income and loss per share: We report net income or loss per share in accordance with Financial Standard No. 128, �Earnings per Share (EPS)� (�FAS 128�). Under FAS 128, basic EPS, which excludes dilution, is computed by dividing income or loss available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Unvested restricted stock is excluded from the calculation of weighted average common shares for basic EPS. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. Diluted EPS includes restricted stock and in-the-money stock options using the treasury stock method. During a loss period, the assumed exercise of in-the-money stock options has an anti-dilutive effect, and therefore, these instruments are excluded from the computation of dilutive EPS. See Note 15 for EPS calculation.

3. Recently issued accounting pronouncements

Fair Value Measurements: In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements� (�FAS 157�) which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and for interim periods within those years. This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. Management has not yet determined the impact, if any, of adopting the provisions of FAS 157 on the Company�s financial position and results of operations.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities: In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, �The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities� (�FAS 159�), which allows entities to voluntarily choose, at specified election dates, to measure many financial assets and financial liabilities (as well as certain non-financial instruments) at fair value (the �fair value option�). The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable. If the fair value option is elected for an instrument, the Statement specifies that all subsequent changes in fair value for that instrument shall be reported in earnings. This Statement is effective for TransAct for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008. We have not yet determined the effect this Statement will have on our operations or financial position.

Business Combinations: In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised 2007), �Business Combinations� (�FAS 141(R)�), which replaces FAS No. 141, �Business Combinations.� FAS 141(R) retains the underlying concepts of SFAS 141 in that all business combinations are still required to be accounted for at fair value under the acquisition method of accounting but FAS 141(R)
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changed the method of applying the acquisition method in a number of significant aspects including the following: (i) acquisition costs will generally be expensed as incurred; (ii) non-controlling interests will be valued at fair value at the acquisition date; (iii) in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset at the acquisition date; (iv) restructuring costs associated with a business combination will generally be expensed subsequent to the acquisition date; and (v) changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense. FAS 141(R) is effective on a prospective basis for all business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period subsequent to December 15, 2008, with the exception of the accounting for valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contingencies. FAS 141(R) amends FAS 109 such that adjustments made to valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contingencies associated with acquisitions that closed prior to the effective date of FAS 141(R) would also apply the provisions of FAS 141(R). Early adoption of FAS 141(R) is not permitted.

4. Inventories

The components of inventories, net of allowances, are:

December 31,
(In thousands) 2007 2006
Raw materials and purchased component parts $ 8,019 $ 7,337
Work-in-process 57 �  
Finished goods 589 230

$ 8,665 $ 7,567

5. Fixed assets

The components of fixed assets are:

December 31,
(In thousands) 2007 2006
Tooling, machinery and equipment $ 12,697 $ 12,407
Furniture and office equipment 1,730 1,560
Computer software and equipment 4,940 4,985
Leasehold improvements 1,867 1,051

21,234 20,003
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (14,896) (14,065)

$ 6,338 $ 5,938

6. Intangible assets

On June 30, 2005, we acquired certain intangible assets related to casino ticket printer designs and technology from Bally Gaming, Inc. (�Bally�) for $475,000, plus the costs of effecting the acquisition (approximately $35,000). Prior to the acquisition, pursuant to the terms of a license agreement, we were required to pay Bally a royalty on sales of certain gaming printers utilizing the licensed technology. As a result of the acquisition, effective July 1, 2005, we were no longer required to pay any future royalties to Bally.
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The purchase price was allocated, based on management�s estimates, to intangible assets based on their relative fair value at the date of acquisition. The fair value of the intangibles, comprised of purchased technology and a covenant not to compete, was determined using the future discounted cash flows method. The intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over six and seven years, respectively, for the estimated life of the assets.

The following summarizes the allocation of the purchase price for the acquisition of certain intangible assets from Bally (in thousands):

Purchased technology $ 364
Covenant not to compete 146

Consideration paid $ 510

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the net intangible asset balance associated with the technology purchased from Bally was $307,000 and $388,000, respectively. Amortization expense associated with the technology purchased from Bally was $81,000, $81,000 and $41,000 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Amortization expense for each of the next five years ending December 31 is expected to be as follows: $81,000 in each of 2008 through 2010; $54,000 in 2011; and $10,000 in 2012.

7. Accrued liabilities

The components of accrued liabilities (current portion) are:

December 31,
(In thousands) 2007 2006
Payroll and fringe benefits $ 1,004 $ 1,671
Income taxes �  710
Warranty 409 443
Professional and consulting 782 364
Other 657 608

$ 2,852 $ 3,796

8. Accrued business consolidation and restructuring expenses

In February 2001, we announced plans to establish a global engineering and manufacturing center at our Ithaca, NY facility. As part of this strategic decision, we undertook a plan to consolidate all manufacturing and engineering into our existing Ithaca, NY facility and close our Wallingford, CT manufacturing facility (the �Consolidation�). As of December 31, 2001, we successfully transferred substantially all our Wallingford operations to Ithaca, NY, with the exception of our corporate headquarters and a service center that remain in Connecticut. The closing of the Wallingford manufacturing facility resulted in the termination of employment of approximately 70 production, administrative and management employees.

During 2001 through 2004, we recorded expenses of approximately $5,957,000 related to costs associated with the Consolidation, including severance pay, stay bonuses, employee benefits, moving expenses, non-cancelable lease payments, accelerated depreciation and other costs.
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In November 2006, we executed an agreement effective May 1, 2007 to terminate the lease agreement for our Wallingford, CT facility (the �Release Agreement�). Prior to the execution of the Release Agreement, we accrued the remaining non-cancelable lease payments and other related costs for the unused portion of this facility through the expiration date of the lease (March 31, 2008). As a result of the Release Agreement and the early termination of the lease, we were released from the legal obligation to make lease payments after May 1, 2007 and, accordingly, we reversed approximately $479,000 of previously accrued restructuring reserve in the fourth quarter of 2006. During the second quarter of 2007, we recorded an additional $12,000 of expense to finalize the termination of the lease agreement. As of December 31, 2007, all non-cancelable lease payments related to our Wallingford, CT facility had been made.

The following table summarizes the activity recorded in the restructuring accrual:

Year ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Accrual balance, beginning of year $ 315 $ 1,193 $ 1,640

Business consolidation and restructuring expenses:
Facility closure and consolidation expenses 12 �  �  
Reversal of lease obligation related to unused space �  (479) �  

12 (479) �  

Cash payments (327) (399) (447)

Accrual balance, end of year $ �  $ 315 $ 1,193

9. Retirement savings plan

On April 1, 1997, we established the TransAct Technologies Retirement Savings Plan (the �401(k) Plan�), a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. All full-time employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan at the beginning of the calendar quarter immediately following their date of hire. We match employees� contributions at a rate of 50% of employees� contributions up to the first 6% of the employees� compensation contributed to the 401(k) Plan. Our matching contributions were $247,000, $249,000 and $225,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

10. Borrowings

On November 28, 2006, we signed a five-year $20 million credit facility (the �TD Banknorth Credit Facility�) with TD Banknorth, N.A. (�TD Banknorth�). The credit facility provides for a $20 million revolving credit line expiring on November 28, 2011. The TD Banknorth Credit facility replaces a previous $11.5 million credit facility also with TD Banknorth. Borrowings under the revolving credit line bear a floating rate of interest at the prime rate minus one-percent and are secured by a lien on all of our assets. We also pay a fee of 0.25% on unused borrowings under the revolving credit line. Deferred financing costs relating to expenses incurred to complete the TD Banknorth Credit Facility were $94,000 at December 31, 2007. The TD Banknorth Credit Facility imposes certain quarterly financial covenants on us and restricts the payment of dividends on our common stock and the creation of other liens. On November 7, 2007, we amended the TD Banknorth Credit Facility to revise a financial covenant effective September 30, 2007.

As of December 31, 2007, we had no outstanding borrowings on the revolving credit line. Undrawn commitments under the TD Banknorth Credit Facility were $20,000,000 at December 31, 2007.
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11. Commitments and contingencies

In April 2005, we announced a complaint against FutureLogic, Inc. (�FutureLogic�) in Connecticut, which charged FutureLogic with disseminating false and misleading statements. We asserted claims of defamation and certain other charges. In May 2005, FutureLogic filed a complaint against us in California, asserting false advertising, defamation, trade libel and certain other charges. We moved to dismiss FutureLogic�s action in California, on the grounds that any claims raised in that action should have been brought as part of the case filed by us in Connecticut. In the alternative, we moved to stay the California action pending the resolution of jurisdictional motions in the Connecticut court. In September 2006, the District of Connecticut dismissed our case because of a lack of jurisdiction. The decision was not on the merits of our claims, but on the jurisdiction of the court in which the suit was brought.

On June 12, 2007, we answered FutureLogic�s complaint and filed a counterclaim that FutureLogic infringes U.S. Patent No. 6,924,903 (the �903 Patent�). We also filed a motion for a preliminary injunction to stop infringement by FutureLogic�s dual port printers. Our motion for preliminary injunction was heard on July 30, 2007. Through our preliminary injunction motion and hearing, we showed that FutureLogic has constructed a prototype printer, the GEN2 Universal with the ProMatrix system, which the judge ruled has a likelihood of infringing the 903 Patent covering dual port technology. The court denied our motion on August 6, 2007, but the court ruled that �Should TransAct discover that FutureLogic has sold or offered to sell any GEN2 Universal printers with the ProMatrix system that infringe the 903 Patent during the course of this action, it may renew this motion on an expedited ex parte basis and� assuming it shows the requisite likelihood of success on the merits�the court will afford it the relief it seeks.�

On August 27, 2007, FutureLogic lodged an amended complaint that sought a declaratory judgment that our U.S. Patent No. 7,099,035 (�the 035 Patent�) is invalid and not infringed by FutureLogic, and that the 903 and 035 Patents are unenforceable for inequitable conduct. Concurrently, we filed an amended answer that added a counterclaim that FutureLogic infringes the 035 Patent. Also on August 27, 2007, FutureLogic filed a motion for leave to file a Second Amended Complaint to add monopolization and attempted monopolization claims against us. The proposed claims were each based on �Walker Process fraud� and �sham litigation.� The Court held a hearing on this motion on October 29, 2007 and issued an opinion that same day. In its opinion, the Court denied FutureLogic�s motion to add a claim for actual monopolization based on either the �Walter Process fraud� theory or the �sham litigation.� theory. The Court also denied FutureLogic�s motion to add a claim for attempted monopolization based on the �sham litigation� theory. The Court did, however, permit FutureLogic to assert a claim of attempted monopolization based on the �Walker Process fraud� theory. We believe that FutureLogic�s claim in this matter is without merit and intend to defend vigorously against it.

On February 20, 2008, we filed an application to renew our preliminary injunction motion. The Court heard our motion on March 3, 2008. The Court denied our renewed motion. We intend to vigorously defend TransAct against FutureLogic�s claims, which we believe to be without merit. We also intend to pursue vigorously our claim against FutureLogic for infringement of the 903 and 035 Patents.

We are now in the discovery phase of the case.

We are currently unable to estimate any potential liability or range of loss associated with this litigation. Accordingly, no amounts have been accrued in the financial statements related to this matter.

At December 31, 2007, we were lessee on operating leases for equipment and real property. Rent expense was approximately $1,152,000, $1,330,000 and $1,294,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Minimum aggregate rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease
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terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2007 are as follows: $948,000 in 2008; $938,000 in 2009; $777,000 in 2010; $804,000 in 2011; $459,000 in 2012; and $997,000 thereafter.

12. Stock incentive plans

Employee Stock Purchase Plan: In May 2000, our shareholders approved the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the �ESPP�), under which 75,000 shares of our common stock were available for issuance to employees beginning June 1, 2000. The ESPP was terminated on May 31, 2005. We issued 2,690 shares of common stock under the ESPP during 2005. At December 31, 2005, no shares remained available for issuance due to the termination of the ESPP.

Stock incentive plans. We currently have four primary stock incentive plans: the 1996 Stock Plan, which provides for the grant of awards to officers and other key employees of the Company; the 1996 Directors� Stock Plan, which provides for non-discretionary awards to non-employee directors; the 2001 Employee Stock Plan, which provides for the grant of awards to key employees of the Company and other non-employees who may provide services to the Company; and the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, which provides for awards to executives, key employees, directors and consultants. The plans generally provide for awards in the form of: (i) incentive stock options, (ii) non-qualified stock options, (iii) restricted stock, (iv) restricted stock units, (v) stock appreciation rights or (vi) limited stock appreciation rights. However, the 2001 Employee Stock Plan does not provide for incentive stock option awards. Options granted under these plans have exercise prices equal to 100% of the fair market value of the common stock at the date of grant. Options granted have a ten-year term and generally vest over a three- to five-year period, unless automatically accelerated for certain defined events. As of May 2005, no new awards will be made under the 1996 Stock Plan, the 1996 Directors� Stock Plan or the 2001 Employee Stock Plan. At December 31, 2007, approximately 349,750 shares of common stock remained available for issuance under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

Under the assumptions indicated below, the weighted-average fair value of stock option grants for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $5.81 and $5.91, respectively. No fair value or assumptions have been disclosed for the year ended December 31, 2005 as no stock option grants were made during this period. The table below indicates the key assumptions used in the option valuation calculations for options granted in the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and a discussion of our methodology for developing each of the assumptions used in the valuation model:

Year ended
December 31, 2007

Year ended
December 31, 2006

Expected option term 6.0 years 5.2 years
Expected volatility 71.2% 78.4%
Risk-free interest rate 4.5% 4.5%
Dividend yield 0% 0%

Expected Option Term�This is the weighted average period of time over which the options granted are expected to remain outstanding giving consideration to our historical exercise patterns. Options granted have a maximum term of ten years. An increase in the expected term will increase compensation expense.

Expected Volatility�The stock volatility for each grant is measured using the weighted average of historical daily price changes of our common stock over the most recent period approximately equal to the expected option term of the grant. An increase in the expected volatility factor will increase compensation expense.

F-17

Edgar Filing: ADT Corp - Form DEFA14A

Table of Contents 64



Table of Contents

TRANSACT TECHNOLOGIES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

Risk-Free Interest Rate�This is the U.S. Treasury rate in effect at the time of grant having a term approximately equal to the expected term of the option. An increase in the risk-free interest rate will increase compensation expense.

Dividend Yield�We have not made any dividend payments on our common stock, and we have no plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. An increase in the dividend yield will decrease compensation expense.

Prior to adopting the provisions of FAS 123R, we recorded estimated compensation expense for employee stock options based upon their intrinsic value on the date of grant pursuant to APB 25 and provided the required pro forma disclosures of FAS 123. Because we established the exercise price based on the fair market value of our common stock at the date of grant, the stock options had no intrinsic value upon grant, and therefore no expense was recorded prior to adopting FAS 123R. We recorded compensation expense for restricted stock at the fair value of the stock at the date of grant, recognized over the service period. Each accounting period, we reported the potential dilutive impact of stock options in our diluted earnings per common share using the treasury-stock method. Out-of-the-money stock options (i.e., the average stock price during the period was below the strike price of the stock option) were not included in diluted earnings per common share as their effect was anti-dilutive.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures under FAS 123 for the year ended December 31, 2005, the estimated fair value of the share-based awards was assumed to be amortized to expense over the stock option�s vesting periods. The pro forma effects of recognizing estimated compensation expense under the fair value method on net income and net income per common share were as follows:

(In thousands, except per share data)
Year ended

December 31, 2005
Net income available to common shareholders:
Net income available to common shareholders, as reported $ 377
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income, net of tax 315
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all awards, net of tax (1,294)

Pro forma net (loss) income available to common shareholders $ (602)

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic:
As reported $ 0.04
Pro forma $ (0.06)
Diluted:
As reported $ 0.04
Pro forma $ (0.06)
The fair values used to reflect the pro forma effects of estimated share-based compensation expense on net income and earnings per common share for the year ended December 31, 2005 were estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

We recognize compensation expense associated with awards granted after January 1, 2006, and the unvested portion of previously granted restricted stock awards that were outstanding as of January 1, 2006, in our consolidated statement of operations. During 2006, we recognized compensation expense of $111,000 for stock options and $470,000 for restricted stock, which was recorded in our consolidated statement of operations in accordance with FAS123R. The income tax benefits from share-based payments recorded in our consolidated statement of operations totaled $204,000 for 2006.
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During 2007, we recognized compensation expense of $225,000 for stock options and $490,000 for restricted stock, which was recorded in our consolidated statement of operations in accordance with FAS123R. The income tax benefits from share-based payments recorded in our consolidated statement of operations totaled $270,000 for 2007.

The 1996 Stock Plan, 1996 Directors� Stock Plan, 2001 Employee Stock Plan and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan option activity is summarized below:

Year Ended December 31, 2007

Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at beginning of period 707,344 $ 6.67
Granted 144,500 8.82
Exercised (33,199) 4.49
Canceled (53,949) 9.69

Outstanding at end of period 764,696 $ 6.95 5.3 $ 447,000

Options exercisable at end of period 565,696 $ 6.32 4.1 $ 447,000

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices

Outstanding at

December 31,
2007

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted-
Average
Remaining

Contractual Life

Exercisable at
December 31,

2007

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

(In years)
$2.00 � $5.00 386,696 $ 3.64 4.0 386,696 $ 3.64
  5.01 �   7.50 147,500 6.50 4.7 115,500 6.53
  7.51 � 10.00 187,500 9.18 8.6 20,500 8.86
10.01 � 25.00 8,250 16.08 1.9 8,250 16.08
25.01 � 35.00 34,750 31.66 6.4 34,750 31.66

764,696 6.95 5.3 565,696 6.32

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, outstanding stock options that are vested or expected to vest were 712,800 and 658,603 at a weighted average exercise price of $6.95 and $6.67, respectively. In addition, at December 31, 2007 and 2006, outstanding stock options that are vested or expected to vest had an intrinsic value of $419,000 and $2,042,000 with a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.6 and 4.0 years, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options totaled $912,000, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.8 years.

In addition, at December 31, 2007 and 2006, exercisable stock options that are vested or expected to vest were 523,028 and 556,417 and had an intrinsic value of $419,000 and $2,022,000 at a weighted average exercise price of $6.32 and $6.29, respectively. Shares that are issued upon exercise of employee stock options are newly issued shares and not issued from treasury stock. As a result of the exercise of non-qualified stock options, we have net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $20,000 attributable to excess tax benefits from stock compensation deductions, which can be used to offset future taxable income, if any. If and when realized, the related tax benefits of these net operating losses carry forwards will be credited directly to paid-in capital.

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $61,000 and $825,000 for 2007 and 2006, respectively. Approximately 21,000 stock options vested during 2007. No stock options vested during 2006.
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Restricted stock: Under the 1996 Stock Plan, 2001 Employee Stock Plan and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, we have granted shares of restricted common stock, for no consideration, to our officers, directors and certain key employees. Restricted stock activity for the 1996 Stock Plan, 2001 Employee Stock Plan and 2005 Equity Incentive Plan is summarized below:

Year Ended
December 31,

2007

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Values

Nonvested shares at December 31, 2006 154,116 $ 12.22
Granted �  �  
Vested (37,683) 13.01
Canceled (9,750) 10.49

Nonvested shares at December 31, 2007 106,683 $ 12.10

As of December 31, 2007, unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock totaled $835,000, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.2 years. The total intrinsic value of restricted stock that vested during 2007 and 2006 was $180,000 and $338,000, respectively.

13. Stockholder rights plan

In December 1997, our Board of Directors adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan declaring a distribution of one right (the �Rights�) for each outstanding share of our common stock to shareholders of record at December 15, 1997. Initially, each of the Rights entitled the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value, at a price of $69 per one one-thousandth of a share. The Rights, however, will not become exercisable unless and until, among other things, any person or group of affiliated persons acquires beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of the then outstanding shares of the Company�s Common Stock. If a person, or group of persons, acquires 15 percent or more of the outstanding Common Stock of the Company (subject to certain conditions and exceptions more fully described in the Rights Agreement), each Right will entitle the holder (other than the person, or group of persons, who acquired 15 percent or more of the outstanding Common Stock) to purchase Preferred Stock of the Company having a market value equal to twice the exercise price of the Right. The Rights were redeemable, under certain circumstances, for $0.0001 per Right and expired on December 2, 2007.

On February 16, 1999, we amended the Stockholder Rights Plan to remove the provision in the plan that stipulated that the plan may be modified or redeemed only by those members of the Board of Directors who are defined as continuing directors.

14. Income taxes

We adopted FASB Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (�FIN 48�), at the beginning of 2007. As a result of the implementation, we recognized a decrease to reserves for uncertain tax positions. This decrease was accounted for as a $318,000 adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Including the cumulative effect decrease, at the beginning of 2007 we had approximately $79,000 of total gross unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective income tax rate in any future periods.
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At December 31, 2007, we had approximately $125,000 of total gross unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective income tax rate in any future periods. We are not aware of any events that could occur within the next twelve months that could cause a significant change in the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits. A tabular reconciliation of the gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits excluding interest and penalties at the beginning and end of the year is as follows:

Unrecognized tax benefits as of January 1, 2007 $ 79
Tax positions taken during prior periods 33
Tax positions taken during the current period 21
Settlements �  
Lapse of statute of limitations (8)

Unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2007 $ 125

We are subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of certain state and foreign jurisdictions. We have substantially concluded all U.S. federal income tax, state and local, and foreign tax matters through 2002. Our federal tax returns for the years 2003 - 2006 remain open to examination with our 2005 and 2006 federal tax returns currently under examination. Various state and foreign tax jurisdiction tax years remain open to examination as well, though we believe that any additional assessment would be immaterial to the consolidated financial statements. No state or foreign tax jurisdiction income tax returns are currently under examination.

We do not anticipate that the total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change due to the settlement of audits and the expiration of statute of limitations prior to December 31, 2008.

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2007, we have approximately $2,000 of accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

The components of the income tax provision (benefit) are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Current:
Federal $ (32) $ 952 $ 7
State 35 41 68
Foreign 452 541 525

455 1,534 600

Deferred:
Federal (1,693) 552 (634)
State (144) 31 (14)
Foreign (2) �  �  

(1,839) 583 (648)

Income tax provision (benefit) $ (1,384) $ 2,117 $ (48)
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At December 31, 2007, we have $3,535,000 of state net operating loss carryforwards that begin to expire in 2010, and $4,099,000 of federal net operating loss carryforwards that begin to expire in 2027. We also have approximately $502,000 in federal research and development tax credit carryforwards that begin to expire in 2016, $127,000 in state tax credit carryforwards that begin to expire in 2011, and foreign tax credit carryforwards of approximately $280,000 that begin to expire in 2011. We had foreign income before taxes of $1,486,000, $1,813,000 and $1,833,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements. Our gross deferred tax assets and liabilities were comprised of the following:

December 31,
(In thousands) 2007 2006
Gross deferred tax assets:
Net operating losses $ 1,549 $ 47
Accrued restructuring expenses �  116
Capitalized research and development 494 574
Inventory reserves 1,034 702
Deferred revenue 186 100
Warranty reserve 181 223
Foreign tax and other credits 866 615
Other liabilities and reserves 558 516

4,868 2,893
Valuation allowance �  (64)

Net deferred tax assets 4,868 2,829

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation 236 12
Other 84 108

Net deferred tax liabilities 320 120

Net deferred tax assets $ 4,548 $ 2,709

During 2007 and 2006, we recorded a valuation allowance of $0 and $64,000 on a portion of our foreign tax credits, research and development credits and certain state net operating loss carryforwards. In order to utilize our deferred tax assets, we will need to generate approximately $13.0 million of taxable income in future years. In two of the last three years, we have had U.S. taxable losses and there is no assurance that we will generate future taxable income sufficient to realize all of our deferred tax assets. We have determined that it is more likely than not that the remaining net deferred tax assets will be realized, and therefore no valuation allowance is considered necessary, as of December 31, 2007. However, if our future projections of taxable income are less than expected, we may need to establish an additional valuation allowance for all or a portion of our net deferred tax assets, which may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
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Differences between the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate and our effective income tax rate are analyzed below:

Year Ended December 31,
  2007    2006    2005  

Federal statutory tax rate (34.0)% 34.0% 34.0%
State income taxes, net of federal income taxes (2.0) 1.1 (9.1)
Tax benefit from tax credits, net of valuation allowance (4.0) (0.7) (17.5)
Foreign rate differential 0.2 �  9.4
Valuation allowance and tax accruals �  0.4 (41.7)
Permanent items 0.9 0.6 13.0
Other 1.1 (0.3) (2.7)

Effective tax rate (37.8)% 35.1% (14.6)%

15. Earnings per share

For 2007, 2006 and 2005, earnings per share were computed as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Net income (loss) $ (2,274) $ 3,916 $ 377

Shares:
Basic: Weighted average common shares outstanding 9,364 9,577 9,849
Add: Dilutive effect of outstanding options as determined by the treasury stock method �  293 314

Diluted: Weighted average common and common equivalent shares outstanding 9,364 9,870 10,163

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic $ (0.24) $ 0.41 $ 0.04
Diluted (0.24) 0.40 0.04
For the year ended December 31, 2007, there were 871,379 potentially dilutive shares (prior to consideration of the treasury stock method), consisting of stock options and nonvested restricted stock, that were excluded from the earnings per share calculation, because such shares would be anti-dilutive due to our net loss in the period.

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, potentially dilutive shares that were excluded from the earnings per share calculation, consisting of out-of-the-money stock options, were 101,750 and 52,250 shares, respectively.

16. Stock repurchase program

On March 25, 2005, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program (�the Stock Repurchase Program�). Under the Stock Repurchase Program, we were authorized to repurchase up to $10 million of our outstanding shares of common stock from time to time in the open market over a three-year period ending on March 25, 2008, depending on market conditions, share price and other factors.
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On November 1, 2007, our Board of Directors approved an increase in our stock repurchase authorization under the Stock Repurchase Program to $15 million from $10 million. In addition, the Board approved a two-year extension of the Stock Repurchase Program to March 31, 2010. As of December 31, 2007, we repurchased a total of 1,034,000 shares of common stock for approximately $7,995,000 under this program, at an average price of $7.73 per share. We use the cost method to account for treasury stock purchases, under which the price paid for the stock is charged to the treasury stock account.

17. International operations

We have foreign operations primarily from TransAct Technologies Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary in the United Kingdom, which had sales to its customers of approximately $2,121,000, $2,722,000 and $2,181,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Tangible assets at foreign locations are not material. We had sales from the United States to our customers outside of the United States of approximately $8,674,000, $11,416,000 and $10,137,000 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. International sales do not include sales of printers made to domestic distributors or other domestic customers who in turn may ship those printers to international destinations.

18. Quarterly results of operations (unaudited)

Our quarterly results of operations for 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Quarter Ended
(In thousands, except per share amounts) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2007:
Net sales $ 11,468 $ 13,947 $ 11,737 $ 11,614
Gross profit 3,753 4,940 3,885 3,418
Net income (loss) (223) 284 (1,016) (1,319)
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic (0.02) 0.03 (0.11) (0.14)
Diluted (0.02) 0.03 (0.11) (0.14)

2006:
Net sales $ 16,434 $ 16,905 $ 15,276 $ 15,713
Gross profit 5,687 5,746 5,438 5,494
Net income 1,057 857 1,019 983
Net income per share:
Basic 0.11 0.09 0.11 0.10
Diluted 0.11 0.09 0.10 0.10
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Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(Amounts in thousands)

Description

Balance at
Beginning of

Period Provision
Write-offs, net
of recoveries

Balance at
End of
Period

Valuation account for accounts receivable:
Year ended December 31, 2007 $ 204 $ �  $ (142) $ 62
Year ended December 31, 2006 $ 240 $ �  $ (36) $ 204
Year ended December 31, 2005 $ 175 $ 68 $ (3) $ 240

Valuation account for inventories:
Year ended December 31, 2007 $ 1,900 $ 955 $ (5) $ 2,850
Year ended December 31, 2006 $ 2,165 $ 266 $ (531) $ 1,900
Year ended December 31, 2005 $ 2,010 $ 995 $ (840) $ 2,165
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10.9(x) Severance Agreement by and between TransAct and Tracey S. Chernay, dated July 29, 2005.
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32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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